THE PRIDE PROJECT:

ASSESSING THE REGIONAL APPROACH TO BASIC EDUCATION DELIVERY

By

Lucy Mitchell

A thesis submitted to the Victoria University of Wellington in fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Arts in International Relations (MA)

School of History, Philosophy, Political Science and International Relations

Victoria University of Wellington

2011

ABSTRACT

The PRIDE Project was conceived as a way to bolster the awareness, coordination and delivery of basic education in the Pacific region. The project's mandate was to enhance the capacity of Pacific education agencies to effectively plan and deliver quality basic education through formal and non-formal means. The project focused on the provision of technical assistance as well as support and advice to build national capacities through three key areas. First, the development of effective and realistic education strategic plans, secondly the implementation of plans (through sub-project activities) and thirdly sharing best practice through online networks, a resource centre and regional and sub- regional workshops. In total the project received €8 million from the European Union Development Fund and NZD\$5 million from NZAID.^{1 2}

The project's concept was developed by Pacific Ministers of Education who believed many past educational aid initiatives had not delivered successful, relevant or sustainable results. PRIDE was therefore established as a project that would be housed and operated from within the Pacific region. Being based out of the University of the South Pacific in Suva, Fiji, the project wanted to utilise and foster Pacific capacity, knowledge and ownership as much as possible.

This thesis will explore The PRIDE Project's activities within the region. Discussion will focus on why the mandate of sector planning was chosen, and how it has many similarities to sector wide approaches. Investigation into PRIDE within the Solomon Islands will demonstrate that the project had an overoptimistic mandate which struggled to make any considerable achievements in the everyday delivery of basic education. The regional dynamics of this project will be analysed against local priorities and agendas, ultimately showing that they can sit uncomfortably next to each other. Discussion will highlight how ideas of complete Pacific ownership will continue to be a challenge for the region as capacity and infrastructure is limited. In addition, development projects need to move beyond top level sector planning to

¹ Barbara Hau'ofa and Priscilla Puamau, *Best Practise in Pacific Education: Learning with PRIDE* (The PRIDE Project Pacific Education Series No. 9, Institute of Education, University of the South Pacific, 2010), p. 29.

² This thesis will use the term NZAID for New Zealand's International Aid Programme, as this was the operational name during which The PRIDE Project was most active.

implementation and delivery if any significant changes to education provision are to be made.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

There are many people who have given up a considerable amount of their time to help me complete this thesis. First and foremost, I would like to thank my supervisor, Dr Ben Thirkell-White, for his sound advice, enthusiasm, and patience in supervising me. I believe we both went on a journey together and I am eternally grateful for all of his help.

I would like to express my enormous gratitude to my friends and family for their love and support. To my parents and brother, who allowed me to write this thesis from their apartment - I am very thankful. To my proof reading extraordinaires-Helen, Katelyn, Asha and Noel, thank you for your attention to detail and assistance. A large thanks to my inspirational officemates Hannah, Simon, Noel and Toni - thank you for the fun and laughter we shared.

I would like to thank those at Save the Children New Zealand for igniting my passion for development. In addition to those in Wellington, Suva and Honiara, who gave up their time, for me to interview them - Dr Eve Coxon, Dr Kabini Sanga, Dr Cherie Chu, Dr Priscilla Puamau, Dr Donasiano Ruru, Professor Vijay Naidu, Professor Konai Thaman, Kirsty Burnett, Stanley Houma, Filipe Jitoko, Dr Alice Pollard, Maelyn Kuve, Laura van Peer and Trisha Nally, I hope to one day inspire others as you have done me. Thank you to Tharron McIvor for allowing me to stay with him in the Solomon Islands and to Peter Lund at the New Zealand High Commission in Suva for his hospitality.

Lastly, I would like to thank my new husband, James, for supporting, encouraging and believing in me. Your kind words and companionship throughout this process has been amazing. I hope we can continue our shared interest in development and social justice causes for many years to come.

Having travelled to Suva and Honiara for this research, I saw firsthand the incredibly hard work that goes on every day to bolster education provision in the region. I hope that one day every child within the Pacific has the opportunity to attend school and receive a quality education so they can thrive.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	II
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	IV
ACRONYMS	VII
INTRODUCTION	1
METHODOLOGY	5
CHAPTER OVERVIEW	
CHAPTER ONE- HISTORICAL OVERVIEW OF EDUCATIONAL AID IN	гис
PACIFIC REGIONPACIFIC REGIONAL AID IN S	
AID TO EDUCATION - THE BEGINNINGS	
AID TO EDUCATION TODAY	
OWNERSHIP OF EDUCATION	
ACCESS TO EDUCATION	
CONCLUSION	
CHAPTER TWO: OVERVIEW OF THE PRIDE PROJECT	
THE PRIDE PROJECT MANDATE	
NON-FORMAL EDUCATION	_
NON-FORMAL EDUCATION KEY RESULT AREA TWO: IMPLEMENTATION OF STRATEGIC PLANS	
KEY RESULT AREA TWO: IMPLEMENTATION OF STRATEGIC PLANS KEY RESULT AREA THREE: STRENGTHENED REGIONAL CAPACITY TO ASSIST PAC	
COUNTRIES TO SUPPORT STRATEGIC PLANNING AND IMPLEMENTATION OF BASIC	<u>IFIC</u>
EDUCATION	35
MEASUREMENTS OF SUCCESS?	
CONCLUSION	
CHAPTER THREE- THE INFLUENCE OF THE GLOBAL SWAP MODEL	
THE PRIDE PROJECT	
ORIGIN OF SWAPS	
WHAT IS A SECTOR WIDE APPROACH?	
EDUCATION AND SWAPS	
PRIDE, PACIFIC AND SWAPS	
CRITIQUES AND DIFFERENCES OF SWAPS AND PRIDE	
Challenges of capacity and capability Donor Power Struggles	
Ownership in a regional model	
Development and its changing environment	
<u>Development and its changing environment</u> <u>Conclusion</u>	
CHAPTER FOUR – THE PRIDE PROJECT WITHIN THE SOLOMON ISLA	
THE CONFLICT	
EDUCATION IN THE SOLOMON ISLANDS	
Education during the post conflict years	
Participation in Education	
Access to Education	
Education Curriculum	64

<u>Teachers</u>	64
EDUCATIONAL AID	65
<u>SWAP</u>	66
THE PRIDE PROJECT	67
Key Area One: Creation of comprehensive strategic plans covering f	formal and non-
formal education	67
Key Area Two: Implementation of Strategic Plans	68
Key Area Three: Strengthened regional capacity to assist Pacific cou	untries to support
strategic planning and implementation in basic education	74
THE PRIDE PROJECT CHALLENGES	75
Capacity/Capability Challenges	75
Ownership Challenges	78
Donor power challenges	<i>7</i> 9
Changing donor/development environment	81
Conclusion_	82
CONCLUSION -ASSESSING PRIDE AS A REGIONAL APPROAC	
EDUCATION DELIVERY?	
CAPACITY AND IMPLEMENTATION	
PRIDE's LEGACY	90
PRIDE AS A REGIONAL PROJECT	91
CONCLUDING COMMENTS	92
BIBLIOGRAPHY	94

ACRONYMS

AID Assistance for International Development

AUSAID Australian Agency for International Development

ECE Early Childhood Education

EFA Education for All

EU European Union

FBEAP Forum Basic Education Action Plan

GRA Guadalcanal Revolutionary Army

ICT Information & Communications Technology

IFM Isatabu Freedom Movement

IMF International Monetary Fund

MEHRD Ministry of Education & Human Resources

MDG Millennium Development Goals

NGO Non-Governmental Organisation

NOPE Network of Pacific Educators

NPC National Project Coordinator

NZAID New Zealand Agency for International Development

ODA Overseas Development Assistance

PADDLE Pacific Archive of Digital Data for Learning and Education

PIF Pacific Island Forum

PRIDE Pacific Regional Initiative for the Delivery of Basic Education

PSC Project Steering Committee

RAMSI Regional Assistance Mission to the Solomon Islands

SAP Structural Adjustment Programmes

SICHE Solomon Island College of Higher Education

SWAP Sector Wide Approaches

TA Technical Assistance

TVET Technical Vocational Education and Training \

UN United Nations

UNESCO United Nations Education, Science & Cultural Organisation

UNICEF United Nations Children's Fund

USP University of the South Pacific

INTRODUCTION

Much that is wrong with foreign aid is caused not by incompetence but by the complex machinery which has been developed to enable aid to be transmitted from donor to recipient. This machinery that has been designed and constructed mainly by the donors, with the stated intention of making the aid process more efficient, causes or exacerbates many of the very problems that aid is meant to alleviate.³

This thesis will assess a regional education initiative 'The Pacific Regional Initiative for the Delivery of basic Education Project' (PRIDE). PRIDE attempted to create a truly unique and innovative project that would encourage Pacific people to own and deliver their own priorities for education. After years of turbulent relationships between donors and recipients, PRIDE sought to overcome cycles of dependency and redefine how educational aid was delivered. Allowing Pacific people to be in the driving seat of this project, it was hoped to build local capacity and achieve more sustainable results. The project was operational in 15 countries across the region and lasted over six years. This thesis offers a rare insight into this project which has thus far received little research and analysis. Discussion will focus on how PRIDE's regional approach improved on previous donor efforts of creating local ownership and fostering Pacific relevant basic education.

At the 1999 annual Pacific Island Forum (PIF) Heads of Government meeting, delegates voiced concerns about the growing educational needs of their countries. Discussion was based on the recognition that some countries were really struggling with providing education for their young citizens. The Forum decided that they would convene another meeting of Pacific Education Ministers to discuss and come up with action plans and potential solutions for these concerns. In 2001, the Ministers met in Auckland, New Zealand. By this time, basic education rhetoric contained in the Education For All (EFA) and the new Millennium Development Goals (MDGs), had filtered down into the Pacific and countries were aware of the targets they had to meet. The goals are about creating essential structural changes

³ Desmond McNeill, *The Contradictions of Foreign Aid* (London: Croom Helm, 1981), p. 9.

around the world to help more children get access to schooling and an education.⁴ The Pacific Basic Education Action Plan (FBEAP) was developed to fulfil these goals as some countries in the Pacific were not achieving the levels of education provision. FBEAP made recommendations and collaborated strategies on how to achieve basic education levels. Subsequently a team was tasked with the role of creating a regional project that could implement all of the ideas laid out in the FBEAP. After considerable consultation and negotiations PRIDE was created.

PRIDE's mandate was to enhance the capacity of Pacific education agencies to effectively plan and deliver quality basic education through formal and non-formal means, by improving the coordination of donor inputs and assisting countries to implement their plans. Fifteen countries signed up to participate and PRIDE was considered unique as it was conceived, housed and managed all within the Pacific. The project was based on the notion that participating countries could collaborate and support each other with their educational developments. At the heart of PRIDE is the principle of syncretising the best of local with the best of regional and global practices.

External assistance from foreign donors in the forms of Overseas Development Assistance (ODA) and loans have driven a large number of significant reforms and educational developments in the Pacific. However, the educational aid environment from which PRIDE was established was problematic in several ways. There is concern that countries within the Pacific are facing a growing dependency on foreign assistance, with aid now contributing to a substantial part of national government budgets. While this money is being channelled into funding key public sectors such as education, the acceptance of ODA can potentially open up governments to foreign input and control. Donors are able to set agendas and often are able dictate what they are willing to support or not. As Pacific government budgets are limited, they are left in the unfortunate position of having to accept the 'double edged sword' of aid.⁵ Pacific educators believe that external influence has resulted in schooling systems

-

⁴ United Nations, 'United Nations Millennium Development Goals', http://www.un.org/millenniumgoals/ (accessed 31 March 2011)

⁵ Priscilla Puamau, 'Rethinking Education in the Pacific', (Keynote address presented at Australia New Zealand Comparative International Education Society Annaul Conference, Canberra, 30 November – 3 December 2006), p. 4.

that are not always relevant to everyday Pacific life, and are more related to donors' own country systems.

The uncoordinated way in which development projects have unfolded in the region have exacerbated dependency issues. Educational aid is now described as 'big business' with multiple donors and actors undertaking a wide variety of projects everyday throughout the region. Donors bring with them different ways of working, external resources, their own personnel, and often operate according to their own agendas and timeframes. The limited coordination between agencies creates a chaotic picture and places a considerable onus on government departments and stakeholders to manage donors. The Ministry of Education can at any one time be working on multiple externally funded initiatives as well as their own everyday workloads. This puts pressure on capacity and can take personnel away from areas where they are most needed. This does little to foster knowledge generation, build capacity and use local resources, all of which contribute to economic growth. Therefore the issue of aid is often not the dollar value but rather what is being financed.

While much has been achieved through ODA flows, significant gaps in the provision of education also exist. Countries within Melanesia have the lowest Human Development Index (HDI) ratings, adult literacy rates, and combined gross enrolment rates for the region. Limited economic growth, geographical isolation and capacity constraints have created wider societal problems for many countries. While the average Gross Domestic Product (GDP) per capita improved from \$1,484 in 1990 to \$3,251 in 2000, an estimated 17 percent of the Pacific population lives on less than \$1 per day. Additionally, Pacific Island Countries have made only moderate progress towards achieving the Millennium Development Goals (MDGs).

As global understandings of development and policy change, so do donors priorities and implementation of educational projects within the Pacific. The recent EFA

.

⁶ Kabini Sanga, 'The nature and impact of educational aid in Pacific countries', in Kabini Sanga, *International Aid Impacts on Pacific Education* (Wellington: He Parekereke, Institute for Research and Development in Maori and Pacific Education, Victoria University, 2005), p. 17.

⁷ The Human Development Index (HDI) is a composite statistic used to rank countries by level of 'human development'.

⁸ UNICEF, 'Pacific Island Countries: Children's issues', http://www.unicef.org/pacificislands/overview.html (accessed 17 February 2011).

initiative and the MDGs have very much prioritised basic education delivery. The goals are about creating essential structural changes around the world to help more children get access to schooling and an education. As some countries in the Pacific are not achieving the levels of education provision to fulfil these EFA and MDG goals, the spotlight has been thrust onto helping these struggling countries.

There is a considerable gap in the literature and limited critical analysis about PRIDE. Apart from project reviews and publications, little has been written about PRIDE and therefore this thesis is well timed to analyse it. This research will examine PRIDE at three levels. The implementation of PRIDE at the national (local) level will be explored using a case study of the Solomon Islands. It will assess the extent to which PRIDE has been able to deal with problems of ownership and donor coordination. At a regional level, investigation will look at how the PIF became involved and how the University of the South Pacific managed the project from a regional 'hub' in Suva, Fiji. Analysis will centre on how a regional mandate can work in different country contexts. At the global level, the thesis will explore how the project mandate is influenced from wider global policy trends of the basic education and Sector Wide Approach (SWAP) agendas. By examining these three levels, this research aims to explore the relationship between local, regional, and global agendas in the implementation of the PRIDE project.

While there were some positive outcomes, a number of key challenges plagued PRIDE's success. This project was established in the context of a bigger chaotic picture. Tensions of ownership versus local capacity and planning versus actual delivery, perpetuate daily in the region. Whilst PRIDE had great intentions, wider issues that PRIDE could not tackle and solve alone, limited the success of the project. Specifically within the Solomon Islands, the project was badly timed and replicated bigger and more successful projects already taking place. Ultimately the project set out to achieve something extraordinary with a limited amount of funding and capacity, and therefore was destined to struggle. While it is essential that local capacity is cherished and used, relying solely on local knowledge and personnel is highly problematic and may not achieve the most successful results.

⁹ United Nations, 'United Nations Millennium Development Goals', http://www.un.org/millenniumgoals/ (accessed 31 March 2011)

Methodology

The intention for this research was to find a recent educational aid initiative within the Pacific that was working with countries to improve basic education levels. As PRIDE was the largest regional education initiative at its inception and had activities in over 15 Pacific countries, the project was chosen as an ideal case study.

A combination of primary and secondary literature, official policy documents and a small number of semi structured interviews in Suva, Honiara and Wellington formed the basis of this research. It must be noted that only a limited amount of peer reviewed academic resources were available on the area of Pacific educational aid. In addition, PRIDE, in comparison to other funded projects in the Pacific, is very small in size, funding and allocated resources. This meant not a large amount of research had been done on it. Overall, the author has endeavoured to utilise the limited amount of secondary literature available to complete this research.

Secondary literature was used to form the context and historical overview of educational aid. To gain an understanding of SWAPS, wider secondary literature from non-Pacific countries were consulted. Semi-structured interviews were used to learn more about the PRIDE's dynamics and activities. Finally during an interview with Priscilla Puamau, the Director of PRIDE in Suva, Fiji, official 'End of Project Completion Reports' were obtained. Permission was granted to use these reports, despite them not being publicly available.

Interviews were conducted with a total of seventeen subjects. Four interviews took place in Wellington, one in Auckland, seven in Fiji and five in the Solomon Islands. Fiji was chosen because of the location of PRIDE headquarters, University of the South Pacific main campus, NZAID regional hub and Pacific Island Forum. Honiara was chosen as the Solomon Island Ministry of Education headquarters and PRIDE national country project coordinator were located there. The subjects were either involved with educational aid and development within the Pacific, or directly involved with PRIDE and its project activities. Several interviewees were not directly quoted as they asked to remain anonymous. Due to the limited amount of literature available, information gathered from the interviews were used as background information.

Although some questions were asked of all the participants and the topics were the similar, each interview took its own course. All interviews attempted to covered three main areas; firstly the history of aid and educational aid giving within the Pacific (this included questions on donor behaviour), secondly the dynamics and activities of PRIDE and thirdly how PRIDE succeeded/failed with these activities. Some of the topics were further discussed through email correspondence.

The Solomon Islands was chosen as it is symbolic of where PRIDE was needed most. Second to Papua New Guinea, the Solomon Islands experiences the lowes adult literacy rates and lowest combined gross enrolment rates within the Pacific. Counteracting these figures, it receives the second largest ODA flows within the Pacific and houses a considerable number of development partners. Since the 1999 ethnic tension and the 2002 ceasefire, the country has been thrust into the worlds focus. With the introduction of the Regional Assistance Mission to the Solomon Islands (RAMSI), New Zealand, Australia and other Pacific partners now have vested interest in getting the country back on track. This means that a significant number of donors are present and a significant number of development activities are undertaken each year and therefore the Solomon Islands would be an excellent case study. Specific interest was focused on how countries with so many development partners and limited capacity (human and infrastructural) can truly 'own' and manage development projects. Whilst ownership and utilising local capacity are essential pillars for PRIDE, this thesis will explore the possibilities of these elements actually evolving within the Solomon Islands. In addition, investigation will focus on how regional projects can exist between countries that are so vastly different (regional versus local).

There are weaknesses in using just one country case study, however due to size and time constraints analysing more than one country would have been difficult. The Solomon Islands proved to be a very interesting case study and provided wider discussion on development challenges, including donor agendas, aid saturation and limited in-country capacity. Discussion on SWAPs later in this thesis shows that the Solomon Islands already had an education sector wide approach underway. The author felt that this was not problematic as a number of countries in the Pacific during PRIDE's duration were establishing SWAPs (including Samoa, Cook Islands, Vanuatu and Tonga). Key donors in the region, including NZAID and Australian

Agency for International Development (AUSAID) now promote this type of bilateral sector engagement as priorities.

Chapter Overview

This thesis is broken into five chapters. The first chapter provides an historical overview of educational aid giving within the Pacific. Donor giving trends per decade will be identified. While low achievement rates in some Pacific countries have not gathered too much attention, the advent of the global EFA and MDG goals more recently have forced donors to re-evaluate their mandates and methods of giving. The focus on basic education and lifting enrolment, achievement and access rates is now a priority. Overall the chapter will explain how donors have historically controlled educational aid, timeframes and budgets. This raises concern that what children are learning in the Pacific does not take into account local history, Pacific culture and epistemologies, and is more in favour of donors own agendas. The chapter will provide the context from which PRIDE was established.

The second chapter will discuss the beginnings of PRIDE and how the Ministers of Education conceived the project design. Exploration into the project's three key result areas will also be outlined. The chapter will propose four criteria from which the project's success can be measured against, and will be analysed later in chapter four and five.

Chapter three will examine how PRIDE's mandate is influenced by sector wide approaches (SWAPs). A comparison between the two initiatives will help to determine whether PRIDE incorporates some elements. By outlining the critiques of SWAPs we can identify key challenges and critiques of PRIDE. Overall discussion will focus on how PRIDE has used SWAPs notions of sector strategising and planning to create pathways for Pacific Ministries of Education to work off. The concern is that despite now having some strategies in place, there is limited capacity to actually implement what is proposed. Whilst it is laudable that the first step has been taken, committing resources, personnel and money is now a priority. PRIDE unfortunately was not able to commit these resources and in some cases the project had to compete with other development activities. Overall PRIDE's ambition of being the biggest education initiative in the region did not happen.

Chapter four will analyse PRIDE activities within the country context of the Solomon Islands. Discussion will focus on how this regional project played out within a local country setting. An overview of educational aid, education delivery and the ethnic tensions will form the context that PRIDE was established against. It will outline extensively every PRIDE activity the country participated in. As PRIDE was operational during the same time the country was implementing an education SWAP, analysis will look at how the two initiatives worked together. Using the four criteria for success, conclusions will draw out that the project sat uncomfortably against other development projects going on. PRIDE came at a difficult time and the capacity of staff to properly undertake the project could not happen. PRIDE suffered from not being considered a priority and held little recognition outside of top Ministry of Education staff. Overall within the Solomon Islands unless a project has considerable money and resources, government officials simply do not have the time or capacity to dedicate their time to it. This has created a cycle of the biggest, not the best, projects being prioritised.

Chapter five will examine the successes and shortfalls of PRIDE as a regional project. Analysis will draw together previous arguments of how the project replicated elements of the SWAP model and encouraged Pacific governments to put together strategic pathways. Discussion will focus on how the project's mandate was overly optimistic and its lacked pre - country assessments meaning it did not find a particular niche or opportunity to flourish in many participating countries. Countries in the region are operating at vastly different levels and a 'one size fits all' mandate was not suitable. PRIDE has demonstrated that real tensions exist in the region about local Pacific ownership versus capacity on the ground. The picture is not black and white and requires a more flexible approach, incorporating a mix of foreign nationals as well as Pacific expertise. Secondly, there seems to be an obsession with creating plans, frameworks and strategies, with less focus on actually delivering and implementing what is proposed. Planning is certainly a component on the educational aid 'process', however more focus and attention needs to be on implementing plans and getting results at a classroom level. Ultimately the thesis will conclude that the legacy of PRIDE will be mixed, as it really failed to deliver the impossible task it set out to achieve.

CHAPTER ONE- HISTORICAL OVERVIEW OF EDUCATIONAL AID IN THE PACIFIC REGION

PRIDE was established out of dissatisfaction with the historical provision of educational aid in the Pacific. Overtime donors have typically set the agendas of educational aid, frequently shifting their priorities and implementation methods. This has not always produced the most relevant or suitable education initiatives. PRIDE aimed to allow recipients greater control over their aid so that they could effectively plan and deliver their own basic education priorities.

This chapter will provide the context from which PRIDE was established. Discussion will give an historical overview of the provision of educational aid within the Pacific and explore the contested relationships that have flourished between donors and recipients. Decade trends of Pacific educational aid will highlight fundamental issues of ownership, relevancy and donor control, all of which PRIDE has attempted to fix. In addition, discussion will show how the new focus for educational aid in the Pacific is centred on 'basic education' delivery, which is also fundamental to PRIDE's mandate.

From its small early beginnings, educational aid to the Pacific is now described as 'big business'. According to a 2004 OECD report aid to the Pacific Islands from all donors during the 2002 totalled US\$656 million. Aid to fund education is delivered through bilateral, multilateral and regional programmes, using various approaches. This money is given by multiple stakeholders, with Australia being the largest donor of educational aid in the Pacific. Educational aid is historical, it came with colonisation and then self-government, today it accompanies newer forms of strategic and constitutional associations. The distribution of this aid mirrors the needs of each country. Generally countries within Melanesia are classified as having 'serious needs' compared to their Polynesian and Micronesian neighbours. Therefore

¹⁰ Sanga, Op. Cit. (2005). p. 17.

¹¹ Kabini Sanga, 'A context sensitive approach to educational aid', *Journal of Educational Studies*, 25/1&2 (2003), p. 29.

¹² Sanga, Op. Cit. (2005). p. 17.

Papua New Guinea, Solomon Islands and Vanuatu, all of which are located in Melanesia, receive more than 50 percent of the total aid to the region. ¹³

Foreign donors have driven many educational reforms and developments in the Pacific region. Many of these reforms have focused on curriculum development, assessment, teacher education, and resource development to support curriculum change from colonial times. While many argue that donor countries benefit too much from aid relationships there have been significant benefits for recipient Pacific countries as well. 14 Since the 1960s Pacific countries have seen infrastructure such as classrooms, libraries and toilet blocks being built. In addition, local citizens have been employed to both manage and facilitate the education sector and many students have travelled internationally to obtain secondary and tertiary education on scholarship schemes.¹⁵ Without educational aid much of this would not have been possible.

However, research is showing that quality education is not being achieved and the same issues have continued to plague educators for the last four decades. Issues of quality, access, equity, relevance, efficiency, effectiveness and student achievement continue to trouble many Pacific nations. Despite Pacific governments and many donor agencies investing heavily into the education sector, learning outcomes are decreasing and students continue to fail or drop out of school at alarming rates. This chapter will explore the way in which foreign aid and involvement has become intrinsically linked with education development and what has resulted.

Aid to education - the beginnings

The giving of aid to fund education systems in the Pacific is not a new phenomenon. External influence and involvement in education systems has been present since the beginning of schooling in the region. Schools were set up and run by missionaries who came to the Islands and were seen as a medium through which Pacific communities could be assimilated with colonial beliefs, systems and practices, and a way to produce 'tractable populations'. Colonisers felt obligation to provide education systems. However, the 'imported' systems through which they provided

¹³ Ibid.

¹⁴ Puamau, Op. Cit. p. 5. ¹⁵ Ibid.

education were often felt to be contradictory with traditional Pacific cultures.¹⁶ Formal education was limited and the curriculum at the time was described as inappropriate and irrelevant to Pacific life. There was an emphasis placed on individualism, written expression and English language learning, which failed to take into account Pacific traditions of oral story telling, culture and native Pacific languages.¹⁷ Ironically these debates around the relevance and appropriateness of education systems in the Pacific continue today.

The end of World War Two triggered significant political, economic and social changes for the Pacific Islands resulting in many countries becoming independent. After independence the governments of these new Pacific states began to re-establish their relationships with their former 'colonial masters'. An important and integral component of these new relationships was the provision of aid to encourage 'economic development'. Donors believed education was a precondition for wider development and modernisation, and therefore prioritised funding this sector. Ever since, the sector has seen a large amount of aid being channelled through it. As a result Pacific governments have allowed external assistance, such as loans and aid, to significantly fund and shape educational developments in their countries.

Educational aid discourse during the 1950s and 1960s was dominated on a global scale by the notion that education resulted in modernisation for a country. When populations of developing countries were 'educated' they would in turn acquire the right set of skills to help their countries become more technologically, socially and economically 'advanced'. If countries were not able to provide education for their citizens then it was perceived that development could not occur. Education was seen as the central mechanism for the production of a skilled labour force which in turn would increase gross national product levels. This influenced policy to favour the expansion of funding to formal education, in particular funding to higher and secondary education sectors. Investing in education was seen as necessary for economic growth and linked to ideas of human capital theory, which is based on the premise that 'investments' can be made in humans to enhance their economic

¹⁶ James Boutilier, 'Educational Dilemmas in the Pacific Islands', *Anthropology & Education Quarterly*, 23/1 (1992), p. 79.

⁷ Ibid., p. 80.

¹⁸ Eve Coxon and Hillary Tolley, 'Aid to Pacific Education: An overview', in Kabini Sanga (ed.), *Rethinking aid relationships in Pacific education* (Wellington: He Parekereke, Institute for Research and Development in Maori and Pacific Education, Victoria University, 2005), p. 35.

productivity.¹⁹ The provision of formal education is seen as a productive investment in human capital, and is viewed as equally or more worthwhile than that of physical capital investments.²⁰

Therefore more aid around the world was directed toward building up the infrastructure that enabled education to occur, including funding for schools and Ministries of Education. Emphasis was placed on teacher training and producing the necessary manpower in order to deliver education. There was a promotion by donors of particular knowledge and skills that they deemed necessary for modernisation, for example English language learning. Aid for educational development grew quickly and by 1960 it accounted for almost 10percent of global aid flows. As governments and international organisations began to involve themselves in education for development a loose international regime for educational development emerged. This regime had no formal systems of governance or coordination in place, it simply operated under the notion that more education equalled more development for a developing country. Mundy argues that educational development in developing countries was seen as a job that national governments needed to implement, which was to be supported and funded by expertise and resources from donors and international organisations.

Modernisation theory profoundly influenced educational aid to the Pacific for many years. On a Pacific level, education was perceived by donors as a necessity for enabling each country to 'catch up' with more developed countries. It was seen as something countries needed to build on for 'self reliance'. Two key outcomes of education were sought; the first was the immediate requirement of qualified indigenous staff to man the public service and take over government roles from colonial expats. The second, and longer term emphasis, was on the provision of a workforce with the appropriate skills, knowledge and attitudes deemed necessary for economic development. Central to both of these foci was the need for greater senior

¹⁹ Olaniyan. Okemakinde, 'Human Capital Theory: Implications for Educational Development', *European Journal of Scientific Research*, 24/2 (2008), p. 158. ²⁰ Ibid.

²¹ Coxon and Tolley, Op. Cit. p. 35.

²² Karen Mundy, 'Education for All- Paradoxes and Prospects of a global promise', in David Baker and Alexander Wiseman, *Education for All: Global Promises, National Challenges* (Oxford: Elsevier, 2007), p. 3.

²³ Ibid.

²⁴ Ibid.

secondary schooling and tertiary education facilities. Funding from donors began to pour into these areas. Both of these new focus areas had an emphasis placed on vocational learning.²⁵ Both Island governments and aid donors increasingly viewed education provision from an economic perspective. Island governments began to accept the orthodox human capital view that education was an 'investment' for a country. Citizens would be imparted with useful skills and knowledge that in turn would increase their productivity as workers, and as a consequence would produce greater economic growth for their country.²⁶ These understandings were fed into national development plans and informed education policies throughout the emerging Pacific states.

Access problems began to emerge in the sector during the 1970s. During the post war years there was rapid population growth across the Islands, mainly due to improved access and availability of health services. Once these children reached school age it meant there were increased demands placed on education systems to provide schooling for them. What resulted were disjointed systems that could not keep up with the demand, leaving many young children excluded. As the world experienced a financial downturn, overall aid flows to the Pacific decreased.²⁷ It was during this time that the sector needed the money the most, however with poor economic growth Pacific governments found themselves financially constrained. Poor achievements in economic growth by the newly established governments restricted expenditure, which meant everyday government spending on infrastructure and services was limited. As a result, aid going into the Pacific by the 1970s began to directly fund government expenditure, such as education systems.²⁸ This has continued until today, for example, Rodney Cole notes in his 1993 article on economic development in the South Pacific that over \$350 million Australian dollars per annum was used to directly fund government expenditure programmes in Papua New Guinea.²⁹

²⁵ Coxon and Tolley, Op. Cit. p. 38.

²⁶ Leo Maglen, 'The impact of bilateral aid on educational development: The Case of Australia and the South Pacific', *Comparative Education*, 26/1 (1990), p. 84.

²⁷ Coxon and Tolley, Op. Cit. p. 38.

²⁸ P. Collier and D. Dollar, 'Development effectiveness: What have we learnt?', *The Economic Journal*, 114 (1993), p. 3.

²⁹ Rodney Cole, 'Economic development in the South Pacific promoting the private sector', *World Development*, 21 (1993), p. 5.

Tension began to mount as the sector had been put on a pedestal, and was believed to be a central medium through which economic development could occur. Despite Pacific governments attempting to allocate substantial percentages to fund education in their national budgets, the amounts translated into small pools of money. Often allocations were barely able to cover recurrent expenses. For example, the Samoan Government in the 1970s allocated 21-25 percent of their total government budgets to education. However, this was not enough to cover the 43 percent of the population in school at the time.³⁰ Across the region, economic growth that was promised from education was not occurring. In addition, many Pacific educators questioned the appropriateness of what was being offered, particularly whether the education systems were only addressing the needs of pockets of society.³¹ For the select few who were able to complete both primary and secondary school, jobs in the government sector were not guaranteed and were becoming limited as a result of structural adjustment.

By placing an emphasis on funding secondary and tertiary education with the hope of producing a skilled workforce, many younger students were not able to access education. This meant that they could not proceed onto higher levels of education and in many cases seek employment. Local politicians and bureaucrats became concerned with the growing number of rural dwellers moving to urban areas in search of educational and employment opportunities. These uneducated and often unemployed youth began to become a real problem for Island countries.³² Lack of opportunities and employment led to increasing civil unrest, crime and violence. Without education these students had little chance at gaining employment, yet the education systems were often irrelevant and could not provide a space for them.

By the 1980s it was clear that the Pacific region was becoming increasingly dependent on foreign aid and development flows. In addition, the Islands' limited resource base, isolation from world markets, geographical dispersion over vast expanses of ocean, and limited export commodities ensured that, while these nations were small in size, their problems were becoming significant. The end of colonial

³⁰ Tilianamua Afamasga and Epenesa Esera, 'Educational Aid in Samoa', in Kabini Sanga (ed.), Rethinking aid relationships in Pacific education (Wellington: He Parekereke, Institute for Research and Development in Maori and Pacific Education, Victoria University, 2005), p. 293.

³¹ Coxon and Tolley, Op. Cit. p. 39. ³² Ibid.

rule brought forward a number of political and economic problems for newly established governments.³³ Escalating problems of poverty, corruption, crime and secessionist violence were rearing their heads. Economic growth and diversification had been limited for Pacific Islands since decolonisation, especially when compared to a number of other developing Island economies of the same size in the Caribbean and Indian Ocean.³⁴ As a result, the 1980s became a very turbulent time for educational aid in the Pacific.

As with other developing countries around the world, the recommended answer for economic development being practised and preached by the World Bank and other International Financial Institutions was structural adjustment. However the structural adjustment programmes aimed at deregulating economies to become internationally competitive and better integrated into the global economy had devastating effects in the Pacific Islands.³⁵ Pacific Island economies are small with limited private sectors and relatively large public and informal sectors. They are removed from global markets and reliant on imports for many basic commodities. Their export base is very limited.³⁶ When structural adjustment went ahead, state assets were privatised and essential services such as health and education were reduced. The economic policies implemented under structural adjustment have had a lasting effect, and in the view of many Pacific commentators, have posed and will continue to pose "a serious threat to the fragile, semi-subsistence Pacific economies."37 Weaknesses in macroeconomic policies have limited future economic growth. A 2002 study of six Island countries showed that only three countries, Fiji, Samoa and Vanuatu, averaged growth rates better than 2 percent per annum.³⁸ The remaining countries recorded annual growth between 1.2 and 1.8 percent. These outcomes are significantly inferior

³³ Stephen Hoadley, *Pacific island security management by New Zealand & Australia: towards a new paradigm* (Wellington: Centre for Strategic Studies, Victoria University, 2005), p. 5.

³⁴ Azmat Gani, 'Pacific Island Countries High Per Capita Foreign Aid Requirement', *Journal for International Development*, 18/285-292 (2006), p. 2.

³⁵ Coxon and Tolley, Op. Cit. p. 42.

³⁶ Eve Coxon and Karen Munce, 'The global education agenda and the delivery of aid to education', *Comparative Education*, 44/2 (2008), p. 150.

³⁷ Ibid., p. 148.

³⁸ Countries in the study include Fiji, Kiribati, Samoa, Solomon Islands, Tonga, Tuvalu and Vanuatu. Study information from Te'o I. J. Fairbairn, 'Pacific Island Economies: Performance, Growth, Prospects and the Impact of the Asian Economic Crisis', *Asian-Pacific Economic Literature*, 13/2 (2002), p. 47

to those achieved by island countries in the Caribbean, Africa and Indian Ocean which average between 3.5 and 4.0 percent per annum over the same time period.³⁹

The education sectors in the Pacific were not sheltered from the global education blueprints being recommended by the World Bank at the time. Between the mid-1980s and 1990s a large number of externally initiated education sector reviews were carried out and implemented in developing countries. The standard World Bank model was based around sharply curtailing the government involvement in educational provision. This was part of wider policies encouraging decentralisation of public and governmental services. These policies reflected neoliberal thinking which saw a move away from state led centralised planning models that had dominated development thinking since the 1960s. 40 It was argued that decentralisation of the education sector would give power back to parents and the communities. Relocating decision making to local levels would make education systems more responsive and adaptable to local circumstances. Central to the rationale for decentralisation was the belief that an introduction of 'market like' mechanisms would improve efficiency, and that the market rather than the state could deliver education. Under 'Rates of Return' policies, education was examined as an economic phenomenon which could achieve public and private gains.⁴¹ Controversially there were growing calls for 'user charges' in education provision, particularly in higher and secondary education. The global blueprints began to refocus the previous recommendations of secondary education more toward prioritising basic and vocational education.

Evaluation of structural adjustment in the early 1990s highlighted fundamental flaws with the World Bank's policies. Overall funding to education decreased dramatically around the world and many families were unable to afford the new costs associated with education provision. Cost recovery or cost reduction programmes practised by governments acted as a deterrent for poorer people gaining access to quality public services, such as education. The introduction of school fees meant that school drop out rates increased and in many countries this disproportionally affected girls. As with many countries around the world, these policies in the Pacific failed to take into

_

⁴¹ Ibid.

³⁹ Te'o I. J. Fairbairn, Op. Cit. p. 47.

⁴⁰ Susan Robertson et al, 'Globalisation, Education and Development-Ideas, Actors and Dynamics', *Researching the Issues*, 68 (2007), p. 42.

account local socio-cultural factors which once again opened Pacific education systems to a large amount of external policy prescriptions that were not relevant in a Pacific context.⁴²

At this time the two largest bilateral donors funding education in the Pacific were Australia and New Zealand. Both of these countries experienced significant changes in the policies and procedures underpinning their aid programmes, which directly affected their educational aid. Up until the 1980s, Australia's aid policy had had a clear mandate of 'providing the maximum benefits to Pacific peoples and supporting self-reliance'. Within this mandate Australia included strong financial support for enhancing the capabilities and capacities of national and regional educational institutions to deliver their own education and training. However, when the Jackson Report was published in 1984 it emphasised the need for Australian aid to work more in favour of Australia's economic interests. That Report viewed education as an 'export industry', encouraging more Pacific students to attend Australian tertiary institutions and Australian contractors to deliver aid. These recommendations and subsequent policy changes ensured that a very high proportion of Australian aid dollars remained within the Australian economy.

In New Zealand, after a major internal restructuring of the public sector, there was a refocus of aid funded development policies, including Pacific educational aid. All education development assistance services moved from the Ministry of Education to the Ministry of Foreign Affairs and Trade. New Zealand's aid, trade and foreign policy became inextricably linked and all relationships with the Pacific were encouraged to bring a more contemporary focus with an injection of realism. He Both New Zealand and Australia began funding scholarships for Pacific students to come and study within their own countries. New Zealand began to manage the majority of its educational projects instead of having local people involved. Government officials appeared to draw heavily on global education blueprints of accountability, efficiency and cost effectiveness, recommending that management and capacity building policy and planning were funded with its aid money. New Zealand recommended to Pacific Ministries of Education to increase private sector

⁴² Coxon and Tolley, Op. Cit. p. 42.

⁴³ Ibid., p. 43.

⁴⁴ Ibid., p. 44.

involvement in education, ignoring processes and structures of teaching and learning in favour of an 'input/output' assessment.⁴⁵ The changes implemented by both countries during the 1980s showed a move away from funding education for self reliance towards self interested economism. ⁴⁶

It was during the 1990s that big changes began to happen around the world for educational aid which saw the most significant policy changes for educational aid in the Pacific Islands. New donors became concerned with funding education and new global education targets saw greater international coordination and cooperation occur. The 1990 Education for All Conference held in Jomtien, Thailand launched a new global commitment to provide quality basic education for all children, youth and adults.47 Under the leadership of UNESCO and four other UN agencies (the United Nations Children's Fund, the United Nations Development Programme, the United Nations Population Fund and the World Bank), 155 country representatives and 150 governmental and non governmental organisations came together to adopt a new vision for education around the world. 48 There was agreement that countries and organisations needed to work together to make primary education accessible to all children and efforts needed to be increased to reduce illiteracy rates before the end of the decade. The quest to achieve Education for All (EFA) by 2000 was later extended to 2015, as many countries were far off reaching these goals.⁴⁹ The delegates of the conference adopted a 'World Declaration on Education for All', which reaffirmed the notion that education is a fundamental human right, as outlined in the 1948 Declaration of Human Rights. It urged countries to intensify their efforts to increase and address the basic learning needs of all citizens. The Declaration was grounded within the 'Framework for Action to Meet the Basic Learning Needs' which comprised of six goals.⁵⁰ These included;

<u>Goal One:</u> Expanding and improving comprehensive early childhood care and education, especially for the most vulnerable and disadvantaged children

4

⁴⁵ Ibid.

⁴⁶ Ibid., p. 45.

⁴⁷ UNESCO, 'World Conference on EFA, Jomtien, 1990', http://www.unesco.org/en/efa/the-efa-movement/jomtien-1990/ (accessed 20 July 2010).

⁴⁸ Ibid.

⁴⁹ Coxon and Tolley, Op. Cit. p. 50.

⁵⁰ UNESCO, Op. Cit.

Goal Two: Ensuring that by 2015 all children, particularly girls, children in difficult circumstances, and those belonging to ethnic minorities, have access to, and complete, free and compulsory primary education of good quality.

Goal Three: Ensuring that the learning needs of all young people and adults are met through equitable access to appropriate learning and life-skills programmes.

Goal Four: Achieving a 50 percent improvement in levels of adult literacy by 2015, especially for women, and equitable access to basic and continuing education for all adults.

Goal Five: Eliminating gender disparities in primary and secondary education by 2005, and achieving gender equality in education by 2015, with a focus on ensuring girls full and equal access to and achievement in basic education of good quality.

Goal Six: Improving all aspects of the quality of education and ensuring excellence of all so that recognized and measurable learning outcomes are achieved by all, especially in literacy, numeracy and essential life skills.⁵¹

The conference prioritised basic education through global mobilization around timebound targets.⁵² Although the term 'basic education' was not new, it very much became the new focus within development and education circles. Basic education was intended to meet basic learning needs, which is a foundation from which subsequent learning can be achieved. It is based on the premise that equipping young people with the necessary literacy and numeracy skills will enable them to build sustenance from their environment, to participate effectively in society, to meet challenges, to create new solutions, and to transform the world in a positive way." ⁵³ Overall learning, schooling and an education were seen as a catalyst for development. The challenge was now set for countries to find a feasible way to meet the basic learning needs of all of their populations. To achieve the goals many countries needed additional resources, structures and financial systems. To realistically achieve EFA in developing countries there needed to be strong leadership within individual countries as well as support from donors, organisations

⁵¹ Ibid.

⁵² Katarina Tomasevski, *Education Denied* (London: Zed Books Ltd, 2003), p. 93.

⁵³ UNESCO, 'Meeting Basic Learning Needs: A Vision for the 1990s, Background Document World Conference on Education for All', http://unesdoc.unesco.org/images/0009/000975/097552e.pdf (accessed 10 July 2010), p. 7.

and governments.⁵⁴ In response to this, overall collaboration and coordination among donors concerned with education has visibly increased. It has created debate, discussion and focus and increased multilateral interest in the education sector. The conference has also seen a dramatic swing and focus now on funding primary and basic education levels around the world.

The EFA Jomtien Conference and the subsequent international goals have had a profound and lasting impact on educational aid to the Pacific region. The goals opened a forum for debate and examination of how education systems were performing and what shortfalls needed addressing in the region. Meeting the EFA goals and more recently the Millennium Development Goals have become a strong focus for donor agencies and governments of the Pacific. To be able to achieve the international targets, emphasis shifted from the previous 30 years of funding secondary and tertiary education toward funding basic education at a primary level. Education for All had strong links with 'poverty alleviation' agendas being put into new aid delivery mechanisms and practices in the region, as well as around the world. Donors and governments recognised educations intrinsic links to poverty reduction and reaffirmed the World Bank's notion that a failure to provide basic education seriously compromises a country's efforts to reduce poverty." 555

Since the 1990 EFA Jomtien Conference there has been widespread disputes over the exact meaning of 'basic education'. The disputes arise as to whether basic education solely means providing primary school education, or primary and secondary school as well as non-formal and adult education. As the Education for All mandate fails to specifically define what it entails, it has left the concept open to large amount of interpretation. During the 1990 and 1996 Education for All conferences there were large recorded struggles over the definition and concept of 'basic education'. Brock-Utne believes that the struggles appeared "crudely, to be between the World Bank along with UNICEF on the one side and African states along with UNESCO on the other." While the World Bank and UNICEF believed basic education entailed primary schooling/education, African Ministers of Education, along with other African delegates and UNESCO, refused this assumption and insisted that the

⁵⁴ Ibid., p. 80.

⁵⁵ Coxon and Tolley, Op. Cit. p. 40.

⁵⁶ Birgit Brock-Utne, 'Who has the power to define basic education', *Noraag News*, 19 (1997), p. 24.

mandate must include non-formal and adult education.⁵⁷ This 'loose' definition has enabled governments and donors to define basic education based on their own priorities and what they deem achievable. Ultimately this can be considered a failure of EFA as it has caused considerable confusion and uncertainty.

The loose definition of what basic education entails on a global scale also caused uncertainty in the Islands. Across the region there were varying views as to the exact meaning of basic education. In most cases basic education was seen as primary education, whilst in others it included junior secondary. There also appeared to be no mention or indicators of basic education in terms of outcomes, skills and values being taught, with the majority of focus on the ability of students to pass tests and examinations. Nevertheless Island governments and donors shared the common objective of achieving the provision of universal primary education and meeting the EFA and later MDG goals.

Even groups that had previously not been involved in education planning began to take more notice of educations role for the region. For example, the Pacific Island Forum Secretariat convened meetings amongst Pacific Ministers of Education. For the first time ever Education Ministers met in May of 2001 to share ideas, key learning and strategies to help each country achieve EFA. Out of the first conference the Forum Basic Education Action Plan (FBEAP) was put together.⁵⁹ The FBEAP identified the need for "basic education to be founded on distinct Pacific values, morals, social, political, economic and cultural heritages, and to reflect the Pacific's unique geographical context while taking account of the global context." There was recognition that more collaborative partnerships and coordination was needed amongst donors, as well as between donors and local stakeholders. Knowledge and information needed to be shared between countries and greater participation from non-governmental partners such as NGOs was essential. The strategy was officially endorsed by the 32nd Pacific Islands Forum in 2001.⁶¹ The PRIDE Project was conceived as a project that could help implement FBEAP and help countries achieve basic education. The project's overall mandate was to enhance the capacity of

⁵⁷ Robertson et al, Op. Cit. p. 63.

⁵⁸ Coxon and Munce, Op. Cit. p. 151.

⁵⁹ Ibid. p. 154.

⁶⁰ Ibid.

⁶¹ NZAID, 'Achieving Education for All- Policy Document', 2004, http://www.nzaid.govt.nz/library/docs/nzaid-education-policy.pdf (accessed 21 July 2010), p. 15.

Pacific education agencies to effectively plan and deliver quality basic education through formal and non-formal means. PRIDE will be analysed later in this thesis.

Aid to Education Today

The EFA global agendas have successfully brought new donors into funding education in the region. Educational aid in the Pacific now has multiple stakeholders. In the Pacific region the main bilateral donors include Australia, the United States, Japan, New Zealand and European Union. The main multilateral groups are UNESCO, UNFPA and UNDP. At the project level there are various universities, companies, NGOs and professional groups that participate on a daily basis delivering education. 62 While all of the five main bilateral donors have different perspectives on what educational aid is meant for they all share a belief in the provision of basic education.

While all of these donors uphold the notion that basic education has a strong place in development, the projects that they support follow different mandates, visions and rationales. This results in a variety of projects being funded and a large amount of projects actually taking place on the ground. Despite this support and positive rhetoric toward achieving basic education learning achievement levels remain low by international standards and persistent inequalities are hindering progress towards the EFA goals. The range of adult literacy rates (15 and over) varies within the region with lows of 57 percent in PNG to 99 percent in Samoa and Tonga.⁶³

Educational statistics of selected to Pacific Countries (%) UNDP 2009⁶⁴

Hu	man Deve	elopment	National	Combined
Inc	lex Rank	ing in	average	Gross
rel	ation to 18	30 other	adult	Enrolment
cou	ıntries ⁶⁵		literacy	Ratio

⁶² Sanga, Op. Cit. (2005), p. 20.

⁶³ Australian Agency for International Development, 'Aid Activities: Pacific Education', http://www.ausaid.gov.au/country/pacific/education.cfm (accessed 20 July 2010).

⁶⁴ United Nations Development Programme, Country Profiles and International Human Development Indicators', http://hdr.undp.org/en/data/profiles/ (accessed 20 July 2010).

⁶⁵ 182 countries are rated against each other to compare and contrast their human development. The HDI provides a composite measure of three dimensions of human development; living a long and healthy life (measured by life expectancy), being educated (measured by adult literacy and gross enrolment in education) and having a decent standard of living (measured by purchasing power parity, PPP, income).

		(ages 15 and	
		above) ⁶⁶	
Fiji	108/180 (0.741)	Not	71.5%
		Available	
Papua New	148/180 (0.541)	57.8%	40.7%
Guinea			
Samoa	94/180 (0.771)	98.7 %	74.1%
Solomon Islands	135/180 (0.610)	76.6%	49.7%
Tonga	99/180 (0.768)	99.2%	78%
Vanuatu	126/180 (0.693)	78.1%	62.3%

As the table outlines, countries within Melanesia⁶⁷ have the lowest Human Development Index ratings, adult literacy rates, and combined gross enrolment rates. Despite decades of educational aid there continue to be very low achievement rates for countries within Melanesia. Discussion below will focus on what key challenges are potentially holding back achievement levels and the role that aid has played in this picture.

Ownership of Education

Analyses of the impacts of educational aid to and in Pacific communities are symbolic of larger debates of the impacts of foreign aid to the region. One of the major concerns is the dependency that Pacific countries now have on foreign aid and external 'expertise'. Two big questions remain, first, whether there can be 'Pacific ownership' with such large amounts of foreign expertise, resources and financial backing flowing into the region. Secondly, whether countries should even expect to own and manage their aid programmes, or whether donors should be able to dictate the agenda.

A 2010 OECD 'Oceania Development aid at a glance - statistics by region Report' highlights that, per capita, Oceania is the highest net overseas development aid

⁶⁶ This indicator is measured by the proportion of the adult population aged 15 years and older which is literate, expressed as a percentage of the corresponding population (total or for a given sex) in a given country, territory, or geographic area, at a specific point in time, usually mid-year. For statistical purposes, a person is literate who can, with understanding, both read and write a short simple statement on their everyday life.

⁶⁷ Melanesian countries include Solomon Islands, Papua New Guinea and Vanuatu.

(ODA) recipient in the world.⁶⁸ On average Oceania received US \$177 per capita in aid flows in 2008, compare to Africa receiving US \$45 per capita and Asia US \$12 per capita.⁶⁹ Papua New Guinea followed by the Solomon Islands receives over 35 percent of this aid.⁷⁰ While this aid has been used for many beneficial projects, some scholars believe that, on the whole, it has failed to improve living standards and in some cases has descended the region into 'chaos'.⁷¹

There are now multiple players involved in the 'development business', including new partners such as the European Union, China and Taiwan. This interest and involvement can be viewed as both a challenge and an asset for the region.⁷² Many of these donors bring external expertise and ultimately influence with them. For many donors, money is not spent solely in the Pacific but on employing their own national consultants and 'experts' to come into the Pacific to 'advise and consult'. A case study undertaken of New Zealand educational aid money found that from every \$100 promised to the region only \$3 is actually spent in the Pacific. Between 82-85 percent of educational aid does not actually leave New Zealand as it is spent on national consultants, scholarships and New Zealand sourced resources.⁷³ In addition. at any one time in the region there can be up to 300 foreign consultants present, each with their own agendas and projects.⁷⁴ An example of this happening was during the 1999 year the Department of Education in Samoa implemented 34 new education projects. The majority of these projects (eleven in total) were in the primary school sector closely followed by eight in the secondary schools sector. All of the 34 projects were externally funded by either bilateral activities/donors (New Zealand, Australia, Japan and more), administered through the University of the South Pacific or agencies of the United Nations (including UNESCO and UNICEF). 75 The example of foreign donors in Samoa is systematic of what is happening in many

⁶⁸ Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development, 'Development Aid at a Glance 2010: Statistics by Region', http://www.oecd.org/dataoecd/43/29/42139429.pdf, (accessed 8 August 2010). ⁶⁹ Ibid.

⁷⁰ Ibid.

⁷¹ Helen Hughes, 'Trade or aid? Which benefits developing countries the most', *Economic Papers*, 22/3, p. 15.

⁷² Coxon and Munce, Op. Cit. p. 150.

⁷³ Kabini Sanga, (Pacific educational aid researcher), interview by author, Wellington, 19 May, 2010.
⁷⁴ Ibid.

⁷⁵ Tilianamua Afamasga and Epenesa Esera, 'Educational Aid in Samoa', in Kabini Sanga & 'Ana Taufe'ulungaki (ed.), '*International Aid Impacts on Pacific Education*', (Wellington: He Parekereke, Institute for Research and Development in Maori and Pacific Education, Victoria University, 2005) p. 296.

countries throughout the Pacific. Countries are managing multiple projects funded by multiple donors. Overall, the potential and threatening impact of this is the focus and attention now paid to donor projects. Juggling donor interests and priorities can take up a large amount of Ministries of Education time and resources. In some cases Ministries of Education are criticised for acting more like 'development partners' than national providers of education. Carrying out one's work load to the best of their ability may already be constrained by a lack of resources and infrastructure. This, coupled with donor demands, reporting expectations and additional workloads, is an incredible challenge.

Kabini Sanga and Trisha Nally believe another major challenge for education in the Pacific region, "is the widespread sense of despair and dependency that has permeated some aspects of education in the Pacific over the past 40-50 years and contributed to directions for education being set, intentionally or otherwise by external agents."⁷⁷ While donors continue to fund projects they are able to set agendas and dictate what they are willing to support or not. As Pacific Government budgets are limited, they are left in the unfortunate position of having to accept the 'double edged sword' of aid. 78 Pacific educators believe that external influence has resulted in schooling systems that are not relevant to everyday Pacific life, but more to donors' own country systems. There is a strong sense that Pacific peoples need to have greater ownership over their education. For most Pacific countries, curriculum content is perceived to be removed from 'real life'. Practical cultural knowledge and skills have been excluded over time in favour of preparation for exams, often set by foreign qualification authorities.⁷⁹ Examining more practical and cultural knowledge and skills, which are highly important to life in Pacific communities, is hard to do and often gets overlooked.80

Access to Education

Despite high proportions of national budgets being invested into basic education and considerable donor assistance, resources for education are reportedly becoming scarcer as expectations around educational provision expand. This is particularly true

-

⁷⁶ Sanga, interview.

⁷⁷ Sanga, Op. Cit. (2003), p.1

⁷⁸ Priscilla Puamau, Op. Cit. p. 4.

⁷⁹ Coxon and Munce, Op. Cit. p. 152.

⁸⁰ Puamau, Op. Cit. p. 9.

as countries are now expected to achieve the goals laid out under the EFA framework by 2015. There are indications that basic education delivery costs are increasing due to factors relating to population growth, the expansion of compulsory education years and the task of now including rural populations in education provision. For some countries in the Pacific providing education for their remote communities will be an enormous challenge. The Pacific region is a unique geographical area of the world as it covers vast expanses of ocean and is made up of densely forested Islands such as Papua New Guinea down to tiny, sparsely populated atolls scattered across the ocean. Many Pacific countries have dispersed populations across many tiny isolated islands. Population estimates in 2008 put the combined total population at 8.7 million people. The countries exhibit large diversity of cultures and thousands of languages. While some countries are well on track to achieving universal primary education, such as Tonga, Samoa and the Cook Islands, the enrolment rates for the larger Melanesia countries, such as Papua New Guinea and Solomon Islands, are not. This is of great concern as the Melanesian countries contain about 80 percent of the total population of the region.⁸¹ Equalising access to education not only in Melanesia but across the Pacific will be a challenge. Scattered isolated islands, mountainous terrain and remote villages are incredibly expensive to service and maintain. In addition recruiting and retaining trained school teachers is difficult. The remoteness means that teachers salaries are often delayed or 'lost' along the way. Ministries of Education may not have the capacity to carry out field visits and communication from central Ministries with schools may not happen. For some countries access issues are based around school populations being sparsely located across remote or isolated areas. For other countries access may be more related to the effects of rapid urbanisation which places schools in a difficult position to provide spaces for all young people. 82

Conclusion

This chapter has analysed the trends for educational aid giving from the 1950s until today. Overtime educational aid has seen many successes - schools have been built, literacy rates have increased and curriculum developed. However it has opened the education sectors to a large amount of external influence and foreign models.

⁸¹ Coxon and Munce, Op. Cit. p. 153.⁸² Ibid.

Overtime these models have permeated the education systems which are now very dependent on foreign ties to exist. Despite for over forty years of receiving donor money and expertise to fund educational developments, enrolment and literacy rates remain low for countries in the Pacific, particularly Melanesia. Compounding these issues the region is plagued with economic, social and political issues which overtime have hindered economic growth. This has made government expenditure in some countries incredibly limited, resulting in aid flows propping up government budgets. There is a strong belief that these low achievement rates are the result of the way in which donor/recipient relations have evolved. From the early beginnings educational aid has very much been based on donor priorities and foci. As donors' perceptions about the delivery and mechanisms for aid have changed, so has the way in which aid has been delivered. The changing foci, as well as the amount of foreign involvement, has resulted in many foreign education models being implemented. These models often fail to incorporate Pacific values systems and beliefs, which are fundamental to Pacific culture. What children are learning and the skills that they are leaving school with are often not relevant to modern day life in the region. In addition, there are multiple stakeholders involved in the educational aid 'business', each funding and managing multiple projects. Overall Pacific educators remain overwhelmed, discouraged and in many cases angry at how educational aid is delivered.

With the new focus now on increasing basic education levels in order to fulfil the EFA and MDG agendas, new projects have been created to help achieve this. The PRIDE Project is such an example. The following chapters will provide an overview of PRIDE and show how it is working to bolster basic education levels across the region. PRIDE's activities within the Solomon Islands will be case studied to show how it played out within a specific country setting.

CHAPTER TWO: OVERVIEW OF THE PRIDE PROJECT

In response to the issues of donor control, lack of ownership and relevance identified in the previous chapter, The PRIDE Project was seen as an initiative that could help build more collaborative, open and transparent ways of delivering educational aid in the Pacific. PRIDE was an attempt by Pacific Education Ministers to create a truly Pacific driven and owned aid project. The project's overall mandate was to enhance the capacity of Pacific education agencies to effectively plan and deliver quality basic education through formal and non-formal means. It would also work to improve the coordination of donor inputs to assist countries to implement their strategic plans. Overall the project had three key areas; strategic planning, subproject activities and capacity building.

This chapter will discuss how the project came about, the project's mandate and what its three key areas of work were. It will conclude by posing four indicators that measure the project's ultimate success. Overall this chapter will provide an overview of the project for further analysis in chapters three and four.

The PRIDE Project Mandate

PRIDE was something that grew out of the Pacific Island Forum (PIF) and gathered funding from the EU and NZAID. The Pacific Island Forum represents the Heads of Government of all the independent and self-governing Pacific countries, as well as New Zealand and Australia. Through the help of PIF since 1971 these countries have met regularly (and more recently annually) to express and discuss their joint political views and how to cooperate on political and economic matters. The administrative arm of the Forum, the Secretariat, is based in Suva, Fiji. 83

At the 1999 Palau meeting of Heads of Government organised by PIF, there was considerable debate about the "human resource needs and the failure of most education systems to satisfy them, thereby perpetuating the regions dependence of highly paid employees from rim countries." Discussion moved to critiquing the way in which the schooling systems in their countries were being run. The leaders

⁸³ Pacific Islands Forum, 'About Us', Pacific Islands Forum, http://www.forumsec.org/pages.cfm/about-us/ (accessed October 15 2010).

⁸⁴ University of South Pacific, 'The PRIDE Project, http://www.usp.ac.fj/index.php?id=publications0, (accessed October 15 2010).

believed that schools were not providing the relevant life and working skills that young people needed to contribute, not only to their communities and countries but also, to wider global markets. In response to this heated discussion the Forum decided that Ministers of Education needed to come to together to address these concerns. Two years later the PIF brought Forum Education Ministers together in May 2001 in Auckland, New Zealand.

By this time wider global focus on basic education and achieving Education for All were considered priorities for the region. With the support of the Pacific UNESCO regional office nearly all Pacific countries have committed to the EFA initiative as well as the MDGs. As expectations of educational provision expanded with these commitments, resources for providing education were reportedly becoming scarcer. In addition, there was no universally agreed upon criteria or definition of 'basic education' in the Pacific so governments struggled to determine what they were working to achieve. Therefore the key focus of the Palau meeting became how the region would define and deliver 'basic education'. After discussion the Ministers decided that basic education would be defined as "all educational provisions for children and youth, both formal and non-formal, except for higher education." The definition stated:

Basic education is the fundamental building block for society. If this foundation is weak, then livelihoods are more difficult to pursue or students struggle in the higher reaches of education. Furthermore, through the teaching of health, culture, governance and other subjects basic education can engender the broader life skills that lead to social cohesion and which, when combined with an enhancing of employment opportunities, creates a higher level of personal and societal security.⁸⁸

Forum members recognised that basic education would only take place within the context of commitments from both Island governments and the 'world community'. There was acknowledgement that all plans put forward around the delivery of basic

-

⁸⁵ Coxon and Munce, Op. Cit. p. 152.

⁸⁶ See chapter two for discussion on basic education's problematic 'open' definition.

⁸⁷ Pacific Islands Forum, 'Forum Basic Education Action Plan', 2001, http://www.usp.ac.fj/fileadmin/files/Institutes/pride/FBEAP_complete.pdf (accessed October 15 2010), p. 2.

education must include, "Pacific values, morals, social, political, economic and cultural heritages, and reflect the Pacific's unique geographical context." The Ministers agreed in order for each country in the Pacific to improve educational outcomes there needed to be better educational planning in place, with clear frameworks and action plans. The Forum commissioned a working group to put together an overarching education planning document that countries could use and adapt to their local setting. The Forum Basic Education Action Plan (FBEAP) was created and sets out the visions, goals and strategies for future education provision in the region. The document proposed the development and strengthening of collaborative partnerships, coordination, knowledge and information sharing and enhanced participation of non-government partners. In reality the document was more of a declaration of agreed sentiments than an action plan per se. The Ministers meeting requested that the Pacific Island Forum Secretariat (PIFS) be mandated to facilitate the implementation of the FBEAP through an additional pilot project or programme. 90

At the same time the European Union in 2001 decided that funding to its African Caribbean and Pacific (ACP) group of countries would focus on regional initiatives with human resource development (HRD) and regional economic integration components. In the Pacific the PIF held the role of 'Regional Authorising Officer', which in turn gave it the mandate to scope a suitable HRD project for €8 million.⁹¹ It was eventually decided that this funding stream would be used to implement the FBEAP and a working group was established in late 2001 to discuss and steer the initiative. A project team was put together who undertook extensive consultation around the Pacific with key education stakeholders. A project design was constructed from this consultation and the proposed outlines went to the Forum Education Ministers meeting in Suva in 2002. The proposed focus had been on providing both formal and non-formal education opportunities to Pacific youth to acquire the knowledge and skills to participate "in the social, spiritual, economic and cultural development of their communities as individuals, community members and citizens." The title for the project was decided on as PRIDE which was an acronym

⁸⁹ Ibid.

⁹⁰ Coxon and Munce, Op. Cit. p. 154.

⁹¹ Hau'ofa and Puamau, Op. Cit. p. 18.

⁹² Coxon and Munce, Op. Cit. p. 157.

for *Pacific Regional Initiatives for the Delivery of (Basic) Education*. ⁹³ The acronym was seen as encapsulating both the overall objective and feel of the project which was to develop in Pacific youth, through the provision of quality basic education and a sense of pride not only in themselves, but in their language, culture, communities and heritage. Unfortunately the design was famously thrown out by the Ministers, who sighted the concept as too vague and holding limited benefit for countries in the project.

The project design went back to the drawing board and significant modifications were made. The PRIDE design presented to the Education Ministers in 2002 was significantly different to the design the team had developed through extensive consultation. The new focus was to be on achieving basic education through the development of Education Strategic Plans, despite the fact that many countries already had education sector plans under construction or already in place (discussion will focus on this later). All project activities (strategic plans, sub-projects activities and capacity building) were now tailored to the higher purpose of achieving basic education outcomes. The new proposal was accepted and the original name of PRIDE was kept. Funding from the EU was topped up by funding from NZAID which agreed to kick start the project and co-fund it NZD \$5 million for five years. These funds enabled the process of recruiting staff to begin.

After some discussion it was decided that PRIDE would be housed at the University of the South Pacific. At this time the PIF Secretariat did not have the capacity or manpower to take ownership so when the Chancellor of the University signalled his interest it was quickly agreed upon. The project moved into the Institute of Education as the Laucala Campus in Suva in March 2004. Three positions were advertised including a director and administrators. In hindsight Kabini Sanga believes that the positions were cast "too highly" and "not in context" failing to attract real interest. Eventually the job descriptions were altered and "outsiders" including an Australian were hired for the roles by August 2004. ⁹⁴ As the PRIDE staff were new to the area of Pacific education they did not have the pre-existing contacts so had to begin establishing new relationships with key stakeholders.

_

⁹³ Ibid. p. 156.

⁹⁴Sanga, interview.

The project was officially launched in May 2004 by the Samoan Minister of Education in conjunction with the first meeting of the Project Steering Committee. 95 The project's three key elements; creating strategic plans and benchmarks for Pacific countries, the second establishing a funding stream for sub-projects and thirdly capacity building activities through the creation of a resource centre, online networks and regional/sub-regional workshops. The overall emphasis of the project was to encourage local people to decide on their own local contexts. Therefore when resource people or consultants were required (that the local Ministry of Education could not full) then local consultants would be recruited for the job. If this did not work then the Pacific region consultants would be asked. Only when the previous options had been tried and failed were international consultants asked to become involved. The project was strongly trying to re-examine the way in which foreign expertise was utilised, encouraging more local ownership and decision making to happen within country contexts. Finally the overall spirit and principle of the project would be grounded on the idea of 'flexibility', allowing countries to determine their own needs and priorities. PRIDE was to be implemented through two phases; phase one (the operational implementation) and phase two (closure phase) will end on December 31, 2010. 6 At the time of inception it was the largest regional education project happening within the Pacific.

Key Result Area One: Comprehensive strategic plans covering formal and nonformal education

Supporting education strategic planning across the Pacific was to be PRIDE's core function. The creation of these plans would be made through extensive consultation with teachers, parents, pupils, community groups and private sector representatives within each participating country. The plans would cover both formal and nonformal education. The plans were meant to act as a framework for governments to base their national education systems off.

PRIDE was able to draw on its own core staff to provide technical assistance (TA) to countries to assist with the development of these education plans. This assistance was complemented by a group of regional technical assistants whom held extensive backgrounds in educational planning in the Pacific. PRIDE became heavily involved

32

⁹⁵ University of South Pacific [web page], Op. Cit.

⁹⁶ Ibio

with supporting the northern Pacific with all of the states of FSM and Palau having their educational plans developed with PRIDE's assistance and funding.⁹⁷ All plans were approved by the Project Steering Committee (PSC), which comprised of education specialists from all fifteen countries, representatives of the University of the South Pacific, donor organisations, Pacific Island Forum and NGO's.⁹⁸ Through working together it was hoped that regional capacity would be built and better educational outcomes would flourish.

As a way to monitor and evaluate how each strategic plan was developing, the PRIDE team established benchmarks, principles and criteria to apply to national strategic education sector plans. These benchmarks were meant to be used as a way of providing constructive and collaborative reviews and feedback. The first set of benchmarks were drafted by the PRIDE team and agreed upon by participating countries.

The eleven benchmarks became:

- 1. Pride in cultural and national identity;
- 2. Skills for life and work locally, regionally and globally;
- Alignment with National Development Plan and Regional and International Conventions;
- 4. Access and equity for students with special needs;
- 5. Partnerships with communities and stakeholders;
- 6. A holistic approach to basic education;
- 7. Realistic financial costing;
- 8. Use of data and research information in educational planning;
- 9. Effective capacity building for all educational personnel;
- 10. Framework for monitoring and evaluation; and

⁹⁷ University of South Pacific, *PRIDE: End of Completion Report, Part One, Summary Report* (October 2010), p. 17.

⁹⁸ University of South Pacific [web page], Op. Cit.

11. Integration of Health and Physical Education in the curriculum and school activities⁹⁹

In the spirit of PRIDE the benchmarks were set up as a working document, with regular and open opportunities for review and revision.

Key Result Area Two: Implementation of strategic plans

An integral component of the PRIDE project was the funding of in-country sub-projects. Over half the total allocated funds given from the EU and New Zealand were available for this purpose, at the time this amounted to FJ\$12 million. The overall aim of the sub-projects was to assist countries to implement key priorities and areas from their strategic plans. This was identified as "areas where significant reforms were taking place." The sub-projects quickly became popular and were used as a way to fund and test new ideas and innovations. Piloting projects was strongly encouraged, for example, on PRIDE's website it states, "If a country wants to develop a more community based approach to the early primary curriculum, it may wish to test these ideas and approaches in just two or three settings." It was hoped that sub-projects would become examples of best practice, from which staff and other education officials could learn from. Through the funding available many felt that there were now opportunities to develop new curricula, teaching resources and new approaches to staff professional development.

The process for applying for sub-projects was simplified when the PRIDE team developed five model sub-project proposals for countries to base their applications off. The templates were based around the areas of; Vernacular Literacy, Early Childhood Education, Special Needs, ICT and TVET (technical, vocational education and training). Once projects had been approved they were implemented and coordinated through each country's own Ministry of Education. Every participating country had an assigned PRIDE National Project Coordinator (NPC) which could be liaised and consulted with for information about the overall project as well as the sub-project funding. 102

⁹⁹ Puamau, Op. Cit. p. 9.

¹⁰⁰ University of South Pacific, [web page], Op. Cit.

¹⁰¹ Ibid.

¹⁰² Ibid.

Key Result Area Three: Strengthened regional capacity to assist Pacific countries to support strategic planning and implementation of basic education

PRIDE initiated a range of strategies and measures to strengthen regional capacity to assist Pacific countries with planning and implementation of basic education. The key mechanisms were the planned strengthening of USP's Institute of Education, the establishment of a PRIDE resource centre, regional knowledge generation and sharing through workshops on key strategic issues and themes within FBEAP and finally study tours and attachments to regional institutions.¹⁰³

From 2004 to 2009 the PRIDE Resource Centre was a key activity for the project. It was hoped the centre would help build regional capacity and provide access to "a unique collection of education policy, planning and development materials from and relevant to the 15 Pacific countries of the Project." The Resource Centre was to be housed at the University of the South Pacific Library in Suva, Fiji. In addition to the traditional library resources an online Pacific Archive of Digital Data for Learning and Education (PADDLE) was launched. This was an online hub of resources that could be accessed anytime from around the region. Not only does PADDLE have Pacific contextual resources but also material from international and regional including UNESCO, the Asian Development organisations Bank, Commonwealth Secretariat, the Commonwealth of Learning, Pacific Resources for Education and Learning (PREL), and the Pacific Islands Forum Secretariat. 105 By making these resources available the Centres' primary objective was to encourage the sharing of best practice and experiences with education practitioners across the region. In addition, the Network of Pacific Educators (NOPE) was established for educators to share their experiences. The Network started with approximately 35 people, this however grew quickly to approximately 700 subscribers. ¹⁰⁶

To maintain direction and build capacity of education personnel ten regional workshops on key priority themes within the FBEAP were organised, and annual workshops were held for the NPCs of each participating country. The workshops were held throughout the region and some were co-sponsored by other agencies and

-

¹⁰³ University of South Pacific, PRIDE: End of Completion Report, Op. Cit. p. 17.

¹⁰⁴ University of South Pacific, [web page], Op. Cit.

¹⁰⁵ Pacific Archive of Digital Data for Learning and Education (PADDLE)

http://www.paddle.usp.ac.fj/ (accessed 15 October 2010).

106 University of South Pacific, *PRIDE: End of Completion Report*, Op. Cit. p. 19.

donors including UNICEF and AUSAID. PRIDE facilitated expertise from around the world as well as local personnel to be present at each workshop.

Measurements of success?

It is difficult to measure the success of a regional project like this as some countries will naturally do better than others and success can be measured on a number of variables. This thesis will argue that the success of the project can be measured against four objectives. These objectives embody the main aspects of PRIDE's project mandate, which include; being distinctive from past educational aid projects, being the regions leading educational aid initiative and fostering significant capacity building activities. The objectives are;

- 1. Development of strategic planning documents to deliver basic education using PRIDE resources and funding, whilst building the capacity of educators so they could feel confident to enact and deliver these strategic plans;
- 2. Using Pacific expertise and personnel to keep knowledge generation and employment within the Pacific region;
- 3. Facilitate a range of successful sub-projects across the Pacific that would involve extensive education stakeholders (from civil society to Ministries of Education); and
- 4. Be widely recognised as the leading regional education initiative by a range of stakeholders and education specialists.

This thesis will use these four categories to examine PRIDE within the context of the Solomon Islands. By doing this we may be able to identify wider trends of how PRIDE evolved and ultimately played out within other countries. These criteria will be analysed further in chapter four.

Conclusion

It seems the name of the project – PRIDE – has deep significance for many people that were involved. A strong sense of pride has resonated amongst many participants and key stakeholders. The project marks a number of 'firsts' for the region. It was the first regional education initiative of its kind to be designed by Education

_

 $^{^{107}}$ These objectives are written by the author of this thesis. They embody all the characteristics of what PRIDE was hoping to achieve.

Ministers themselves. It received the largest amount of funding for a regional project. It was the first time that the Forum had been involved in education and because of this project the Forum now employs staff to oversee an education portfolio. The project design has attempted to be a project that is housed in the Pacific region, involving as many Pacific people as possible. A focus on using local expertise over foreign expertise has really been encouraged. There is a strong emphasis on mutual collaboration and support, with countries supporting each other with expertise, knowledge sharing and resources. 108 For years Pacific educators had been calling for more involvement and input from parents, teachers, students, NGOs and civil society in educational aid planning and delivery and PRIDE strongly encouraged this practise. The project was set up to encourage participating countries to be in the 'steering wheel' and access the project when they wanted to. Countries that utilised the project right from the beginning were able to reap the most benefits. Overall policy makers have placed considerable value in the support provided by PRIDE in the area of educational planning. PRIDE has attempted to bring to the planning process a clear valuing of Pacific cultures and languages with the full participation of community stakeholders. 109 The project is heralded for incorporating elements of wider development priorities including sector wide approaches and follows the Paris Declaration principles.

This chapter has discussed the overall mandate of The PRIDE Project. The following sections of the thesis will analyse why the project focused on strategic planning and what parallels can be drawn between sector wide approaches. There will also be discussion on how PRIDE was implemented within the Solomon Islands.

¹⁰⁸ Puamau, Op. Cit. p. 10.

¹⁰⁹ University of South Pacific, *PRIDE: End of Completion Report*, Op. Cit. p. 3.

CHAPTER THREE- THE INFLUENCE OF THE GLOBAL SWAP MODEL ON THE PRIDE PROJECT

This chapter will explore how The PRIDE Project can be closely tied with Sector Wide Approaches (SWAPs) ideals. SWAPs are increasingly being promoted as 'a good way to do business' and a positive force for development practices. SWAPS are based fundamentally on ideas of country ownership, sector strategizing, coherence and achieving results through greater dialogue. This new approach to aid delivery is attempting to change the dynamics of donor and recipient relationships that have previously been highly criticised. Although not directly intentional, PRIDE is also reminiscent of sector strategising. Donors were quick to fund this project as it encompassed holistic sector planning, was promoted as a concept designed and 'owned' by Pacific peoples and had a long term strategic focus.

This chapter will analyse what SWAPs are meant to look like from a World Bank perspective. This will be followed by discussion on the critiques of the SWAP approach. Looking at the problems identified with the SWAP approach we may be able to draw some parallels to PRIDE and see where any shortfalls in the project design are. Through comparing and contrasting PRIDE with SWAPs we can learn how PRIDE is positioning itself within wider development frameworks and how the project is working to address issues involved with relationship management, ownership and sector planning that have historically plagued educational aid delivery in the Pacific region. Conclusions will discuss how the SWAP model is idealised and how PRIDE has borrowed its practical and achievable elements of sector planning. By having a strong strategy and framework to use, Pacific governments will have, in theory, a pathway to help them establish systems to achieve basic education levels. In reality, despite the strategies and frameworks, some Pacific education sectors remain behind and unable to deliver quality basic education to their citizens.

Origin of SWAPs

The concept of Sector Wide Approaches evolved during the latter part of the 1990s. They can be seen as a reactionary force that came about after the harsh neoliberal Structural Adjustment Programmes (SAPs) of the 1980s and early 1990s.

_

¹¹⁰ Paul Garner, Sector Wide Approaches in Developing Countries: The aid given must make the most impact', *BMJ*, 321, (2000), p. 129.

Development policy during the 1990s was dominated by a focus on returning ownership and greater control to the private sector. Neo-liberalism and SAPs encouraged a reduced public sector role in areas such as education and health in favour of privatisation. Policy prescriptions given by the World Bank and International Monetary Fund (IMF) saw the introduction of 'user pays' systems in countries which meant that many people missed out on basic services as they could not afford the new fees and charges. The introduction of school fees meant many families could no longer afford to send their children to schools. By the latter 1990s, The World Bank and many of its supporters were forced to retract and admit that "many of the strategies to spur economic growth had made the rich richer, harmed the poor and vastly increased inequality." A fundamental ideological shift occurred during the 1990s which now saw a revised focus on returning 'ownership' to local recipient governments, and away from the private sector. The notions of 'partnership' and 'cooperation' were seen as alternative methods of engagement to their problematic structural adjustment predecessors.

Mike Foster from the Overseas Development Institute believes there was recognition that previous conditionalities placed by donors on aid had not produced supportive policy environments to achieve sustainable results. Conditions that were closely associated with structural adjustment had in fact created a poor track record in working with governments to reform their policies and procedures. A greater understanding that donors themselves could be detrimental to development outcomes began to be discussed and analysed. In the past many development initiatives were funded as self-contained projects according to their own mandates/priorities. This could mean that within an education sector multiple donors could have been implementing multiple projects with little to no cross over or communication between them. Serious questioning occurred about whether individual project assistance could really enhance the holistic education sector development. A World Bank Education Sector Strategy report in 1999 devotes a whole chapter to the idea

_

¹¹¹ Steven Klees, 'World Bank Development Policy: A SAP in SWAPs clothing', *Current Issues in Comparative Education*, 3/2, (2001), p. 114.

Mick Foster, 'New Approaches to Development Co-operation: What can we learn from experience with implementing Sector Wide Approaches', *Working Paper 140: Overseas Development Institute* (2000), p. 7.

As was the case in Samoa in 2009 when 34 externally funded projects were being implemented by a variety of bilateral, multilateral and NGO groups. Information taken from Sanga, *Op. Cit.* (2005), p. 297.

that parties needed to come together as "strengthening education is too big for any single institution" was recognised. 114

A World Bank Report in 1998 titled 'Assessing Aid: What Works, What Doesn't and Why', concluded that;

If donor projects are not set within a coherent plan and budget, the result can add up to a development effort which is expensive to manage, and in which there is wasteful duplication, uneven coverage, inconsistent approaches, and poor sustainability of projects once donors withdraw. Perhaps most serious of all, donor projects have tended to be set up outside core government systems, often employing their own staff. They have drained capacity from government when they should have been building it.¹¹⁵

The report outlined debates that were systematic of the time. Big questions were being asked and solutions were sought about ways in which donors as well as recipient governments could find more equitable and sustainable methods of working together. Rhetoric from the World Bank during this time switched from conditionality to partnership and there was now increased emphasis on direct budget support, building up accountability of domestic institutions and good governance. Comprehensive Development Frameworks and Poverty Reduction Strategy Papers were constructed through participatory processes in which countries mapped out their paths and strategies for economic development and poverty reduction. Within this new policy environment where coordination, harmonisation and participation were seen as priorities the concept of Sector Wide Approaches (SWAPs) began to flourish. SWAPs were introduced as a way to increase local capacity, management and sustainability of aid projects. Supporting a single sector policy and expenditure programme, under local government leadership would ensure

⁻

¹¹⁴ Klees, Op. Cit. p. 111.

¹¹⁵ Analysis of 'World Bank 1998 Assessing Aid: What Works, What Doesn't and Why' discussed in: Foster, Op. Cit. p. 7.

¹¹⁶ Ibid

¹¹⁷ The Comprehensive Development Frameworks (CDF) are a World Bank tool through which countries can manage knowledge and resources to design and implement effective strategies for economic development and poverty reduction. The Poverty Reduction Strategy Paper (PRSP) is based on CDF principles integrating poverty reducing policies into a coherent, growth oriented macroeconomic framework.

considerable behavioural change from donors, funding agencies and recipient countries.

What is a Sector Wide Approach?

SWAPs are a new way of donors or lenders consolidating their financial and resource support for a partner country's own policies, strategies and systems. Money given by donors and lenders is directed into a funding pool which is then used to establish and grow national sectors. Often, sector policy and planning is established through extensive consultation and collaboration between donors and recipient country governments. Aid is provided in a context which adheres to a pre-arranged sectoral plan and is managed using the partner country's own existing systems and procedures. This approach was established not only to encourage greater leadership by government personnel in sectoral policy and planning, but to channel aid money where it is most needed and to avoid duplication where possible. This will ultimately increase efficiency and in turn hopefully produce better results.

Although there are several definitions of SWAPs the most commonly accepted definition comprises of elements where;

- All significant public funding for the sector supports a single sector policy and expenditure programme
- Under the control and leadership of local country Government
- With common approaches adopted across the sector by all funding parties
- A progression towards relying on Government procedures to disburse and account for all public expenditure however funded.¹¹⁸

SWAPs marry two inter-linked concepts. They are first 'sector wide', which means that planning and activities are focused at the sector level. The boundaries of a sector can be difficult to define with no 'universal' definition agreed upon. NZAID defines a sector as "encompassing a wide range of thematically linked activities, involving government, non-government and private participation." The education sector for example can extend from early childhood education, through to secondary and

¹¹⁸ Adrienne Brown et al., 'The Status of Sector Wide Approaches', Working Paper 142: Overseas Development Institute (January 2001), p. 7.

¹¹⁹ NZAID, 'NZAID Sector Wide Approaches (SWAps) Guideline Report', 2006, http://nzaidtools.nzaid.govt.nz/sector-wide-approaches-swaps (accessed 5 December 2010), p. 5.

tertiary education, as well as technical, vocational and adult education. The 'sector' may also include formal and non-formal. Importantly the scope of any sector is broader than just a single Ministry. It involves multiple actors, institutions, organisations and Ministries. Often with education provision, areas may be coordinated by other Ministries, with specific activities run by private sector stakeholders, church groups and/or community groups. 120

The context of a SWAP may also differ according to the needs of individual countries. For example in some countries a SWAP may focus on the whole education system, whereas in other situations it may be narrower focusing on just the primary education sub-sector. In addition, some SWAPs may focus in on just a particular area, region or province of a country. Due to the small size of governments in the Pacific region a SWAP may involve multiple Ministries. Ultimately how a sector is defined and any subsequent SWAP that is created is grounded within the context of a country's local needs, priorities and resources, as well as donors inputs.

The second important concept is the 'approach' which is taken. SWAPs are not an aid delivery instrument or modality, they are a method through which donors and recipients agree to interact. This approach emphasises partner country ownership and leadership, using domestic systems, expertise and processes and the harmonisation of donors to work together in supporting short-medium and long-terms goals. In a sense, SWAPs constitute a new and 'reformed' way that donors and recipients cooperate. As opposed to situations where donors set up outside of core government systems, employ expatriate staff and set strict conditions on timeframes, budgets and implementation. The 'one plan' sector approach is intended to provide greater overall coherence that is lacking when multiple projects by multiple donors are occurring in one sector at a time.

Education and SWAPs

Within the development community the education sector has emerged as one of the two key sectors where SWAPs are considered most suitable (the other sector is Health). Both sectors are run primarily by the government who set overall strategic

10

¹²⁰ Ibid., p.6.

¹²¹ Foster, Op. Cit. p. 7.

Abby Riddell, *Education Sector-Wide Approaches (SWAps): Background, Guide and Lessons* (Paris, Division of Education Strategies and Field Support Report, UNESCO, 2007), p. 5.

direction and deliver essential services. Education sectors within developing countries can receive considerable aid flows and donor input. Educational aid, like other sector support, is more likely to be effective when a strong policy and macroeconomic environment exist. SWAPs are therefore seen as a medium through which donors and governments priorities, funding and activities can be aligned. SWAPs facilitate all parties working together in support of a pre-agreed and wholly acceptable sector plan. Economically effective spending necessitates real commitment to reform and demonstrates a willingness to make difficult decisions around vested interests and capacity. 125

Education sector support provided within the context of a SWAP usually consists of the following areas;

- 1. It is based on a clear sector strategy and policy;
- 2. Local stakeholders are in charge;
- 3. All main funding agencies are participating in the funding arrangement and contributing only to areas identified as priorities within the sector plan/framework;
- 4. There is one system of implementation for the sector and all stakeholders share one set of common institutional and management arrangements; and
- 5. There is a reliance on local capacity, building on capacity at all levels of the sector. There is technical assistance provided from external sources.

PRIDE, Pacific and SWAPS

Aid flows into the Pacific region have not been sheltered from the global debates on the implementation and effectiveness of aid. While internationally donors focus on making aid more efficient, these debates are resounding on a local scale in the Pacific region. The move to sector budget support and sector wide approaches has filtered down to the region, and PRIDE has been heralded as sharing many commonalities with a SWAP approach. As SWAPs feature heavily as a positive force for development approaches let us explore what commonalities PRIDE's

¹²³ Murray Macrae and Mike Ratcliffe, 'Sector Wide Approaches to Education- A strategic analysis', *Education Research Paper: Department for International Development*, 32 (1999), p. 3.

¹²⁴ Eve Coxon and Eric Pedersen, *Review of the Solomon Island Education Sector Wide Approach Agreement*, (Pederson Pierce Ltd, 2009), p. 7.

¹²⁵ Macrae and Ratcliffe, Op. Cit. p. 3.

mandate shares. Using the five education sector criteria (as discussed above) this chapter will explore how PRIDE does or doesn't fit into a SWAP model.

1. It is based on a clear sector strategy and policy

The fundamental idea behind PRIDE was to develop and strengthen the capacity of each national Ministry of Education (or equivalent) to plan and deliver quality basic education. 126 This would be achieved through the creation of comprehensive strategic national education plans which would cover both formal and non-formal education delivery. This is perhaps the strongest link that SWAPs and PRIDE share. By building and supporting an education sector strategy at the 'top' it was hoped strong policy and educational delivery programmes would 'trickle down' to schools and classrooms in each country. Each sector plan outlined how the government and other stakeholders would work together to achieve collective results. Each national education strategic plan was put together by an in-country team and was led by National Project Coordinator. Emphasis was placed on making plans context specific to each country by incorporating local culture, languages and epistemologies. 127 Technical assistance was available for any country that needed help with developing their plans.

Once the strategic plans had been agreed and established, participating countries sought funding from PRIDE to implement certain aspects of their strategic plans (this was the sub-project component of PRIDE). The aim of the sub-projects was to assist countries in implementing key priority areas of their strategic plans. Ideally these were areas where significant reforms were taking place. 128 Countries chose which projects they wanted to put forward for funding and throughout the process they were in charge of implementing, monitoring and evaluating each sub-project. Over 132 sub-projects were implemented at the country level across the region. PRIDE allowed many countries to step up and take a greater role in 'owning' the process of setting education agendas and priorities.

2. Local stakeholders are in charge

¹²⁶ University of South Pacific, [web page], Op. Cit

¹²⁷ Puamau, Op. Cit. p. 10.

¹²⁸ University of South Pacific, *PRIDE: End of Completion Report*, Op. Cit. p. 5.

Incorporating ideas of 'Pacific ownership' features heavily in The PRIDE Project's mandate. The project was established as part of the implementation strategy of FBEAP to achieve universal educational participation and achievement. After three or more decades of educational aid, sustainable and quality education had not yet been achieved and significant gaps in education provision remained in some countries. Instead donors and other external players had continued to define these goals and parameters. Sanga believes a significant failure of past educational aid is that "Pacific Islanders did not own the process, educational visions and goals of education." Going into the project these challenges had been identified and a considerable effort was made to build the project around a 'Pacific vision' that would be 'owned' by Pacific people.

When The PRIDE Project was launched it was touted as a model that was 'owned by the Pacific people for Pacific people by Pacific people'. It was designed and approved by Pacific Ministers for Education. The project was unique as it started with the Ministers coming together, not donors, to make a project. The project wanted Pacific Ministries of Education to decide their own priorities and plans. When Pacific Ministers of Education met at their inaugural meeting in 1999 many expressed concerns for a lack of overall strategic focus for education delivery in the region. Some countries were far from achieving basic education levels and there was a sense that what children were learning in schools was not equipping them with the necessary skills to contribute to international labour markets. Many countries did not have national education strategic plans in place and it was felt without these grounding documents that education delivery lacked focus and direction. After this gap was identified supporting education strategic planning across the Pacific became PRIDE's core function. Drawing on technical assistance and funding, countries were assisted by PRIDE's consultants, in putting together robust national education plans through the project. These plans would ultimately guide each participating country's education sector and key stakeholders to implement their national education programmes. 131

¹²⁹ Sanga, Op. Cit. (2003), p. 1.

¹³⁰ Ibid

¹³¹ University of South Pacific, PRIDE: End of Completion Report, Op. Cit. p .17.

The Project worked off annual work plans which were developed by the PRIDE team and approved by a Project Steering Committee. A considerable effort was made to include this wide range of stakeholders in the process. This Committee comprised education stakeholders from each of the 15 participating countries, including representatives from the University of the South Pacific (from multiple campuses), NGOs and Pacific Island Forum Secretariat. Additionally other donors and multilateral organisations with staff members in Suva were entitled to a 'observer status'.

3. There is a reliance on local capacity, as well as building on capacity at all levels of the sector. There is little technical assistance provided from external sources.

PRIDE placed a strong emphasis on mutual collaboration, partnerships and support between countries in order to build regional capacity. The key mechanisms were the strengthening of USP's Institute of Education, the establishment of a Resource Centre, regional knowledge generation, information sharing through workshops, and study tours.¹³²

Another aim of the project was to 'help countries help each other'. Informal partnerships were created with the establishment of the PRIDE Resource Centre from 2004-2009. This centre hoped to foster regional capacity building, informal partnerships, and dialogue between education stakeholders across the region. In this Resource Centre, a physical library was established in 2004 at Fiji's University of the South Pacific campus. The Centre provided over 700 hard copy publications which covered education policy, planning and development material from the fifteen participating Pacific countries. In addition an online resource centre, the Pacific Archive of Digital Data for Learning and Education (PADDLE) and an online Network of Pacific Education specialists (NOPE) was created to facilitate greater information sharing and conversations between key stakeholders. PADDLE helped share best practice experiences and examples amongst the fifteen Pacific countries of the Project. It also included material from international and regional organisations including UNESCO, the Asian Development Bank, the Commonwealth Secretariat,

132 Ibid

¹³³ University of South Pacific, [web page], Op. Cit

the Commonwealth of Learning, Pacific Resources for Education and Learning (PREL), and the Pacific Islands Forum Secretariat.¹³⁴ National, regional and subregional workshops throughout the Pacific brought key education stakeholders and partners together to discuss dialogue and direction over twenty times between 2004 and 2010.¹³⁵ Each workshop utilised both national and regional educationalists to explore new ideas and devise culturally relevant solutions together through dialogue, discussion and debate.

4. All main funding agencies are participating in the funding arrangement and contributing only to areas identified as priorities within the sector plan/framework

Both PRIDE and SWAPs take a holistic view of planning and recognise that many different stakeholders and parties ultimately are needed to implement and deliver good quality education in developing countries. In theory, the sector plan which PRIDE helped facilitate in some Pacific countries enables governments and stakeholders to contextualise their work and work off a 'blueprint' in areas where there is the greatest need. PRIDE's mandate specifies that the project will 'improve the coordination of donor inputs through the development of national education plans'. However, creating and then actually implementing a plan are very different, as will be detailed below.

5. There is one system of implementation for the sector and all stakeholders share one set of common institutional and management arrangements.

In a limited number of cases the Project was able to be proactive in donor harmonisation activities. In Tuvalu, for example, the PRIDE team collaborated with donors in roundtable consultation meetings on issues relating to funding and participation. PRIDE's overall mandate has attempted to get countries to create strategic plans which may ultimately be used like a SWAP for countries and donors to use as a blueprint to collaborate together. Through regional workshops and networks PRIDE has also attempted to facilitate greater dialogue and interaction between countries to work in partnership with each other.

¹³⁴ Pacific Archive of Digital Data for Learning and Education (PADDLE) [web page], Op. Cit.

¹³⁵ University of South Pacific, PRIDE: End of Completion Report, Op. Cit. p. 20.

¹³⁶ University of South Pacific, [web page], Op. Cit

Critiques and differences of SWAPs and PRIDE

As SWAPs and PRIDE share many commonalities through looking at the problems identified with the SWAP approach we may be able to draw out some critiques of PRIDE. These will help us show what PRIDE is doing well and what areas it is not achieving in.

Challenges of capacity and capability

While there are many positive elements to SWAPS, how they actually evolve on the ground can be vastly different. A key critique of government ownership is that some countries may simply not have the capacity (both human and physical) to implement, manage or 'own' whole projects. SWAPs present a challenging situation, as success is premised on ministries/sectors now being capable of handling high levels of planning, prioritising, donor management and performance monitoring. ¹³⁷ As Harvey Smith states, "there is no point in saying that a government should be in the driving seat if it does not know how to drive." There appears to be a tension between ownership and capacity, and in many cases an assumption is made that taking responsibility for one's own development will automatically strengthen national capacities. 139 It seems in many cases that countries are calling for greater ownership however capacity must be present to work with. If capacity is limited additional capacity building activities will require funding, resources and time from donors. If donors perceive capacity building as too difficult they may simply take over the direction and implementation of activities. With this context in mind it is understandable that the previous 'quick fix solution' of inserting international consultants into the situation to advise and implement projects is often seen as preferable. 140

In PRIDE's case the success of a regional project like this very much depends on the capacity and capabilities of participating countries. Whilst the mandate at the top can be well-organised and well-structured there needs to be the capacity and

¹³⁷ Harvey Smith, 'Ownership and capacity: Do current donor approaches help or hinder the achievement of international and national targets for education', *International Journal of Educational Development*, 25/4, (2005), p. 450.

¹³⁸ Ibid., p. 453.

¹³⁹ Ibid., p. 447.

¹⁴⁰ Mick Foster from the Overseas Development Institute discusses how traditionally donor projects have tended to be set up outside of core Government systems and employ their own staff. This has drained capacity from recipient Governments instead of building and fostering it.

commitment at the country level to lead the project forward and implement strategies. Capacity can include both physical infrastructures within countries as well as human capacity. PRIDE has acknowledged that for some countries a considerable amount of technical assistance was needed to put together their strategic plans. Establishing together the national education plan is just the first step in the process of education delivery. Whilst having a strategic direction and focus is beneficial, it is just the beginning part of actually achieving quality education. Small disbursements of funding were available to implement key areas of each country's strategic plan, however what will happen to areas that are not considered a 'priority' or areas that did not receive funding through the sub-project disbursements? PRIDE's review found that many countries spent a considerable amount of time putting together their strategic plans which left little time to utilise funding from the sub-projects. Whilst some countries are in the fortunate position of being able to seek funding from other sources/donors, there is the potential that some plans will lose momentum. Whilst "plans are there to stay" the enthusiasm and deemed 'priorities' may falter overtime with new staff, governments and donor agendas. 141

Another systematic problem of the Pacific is the saturation of donors and aid flows that are present. PRIDE experienced this first hand as many countries simply did not have the human capacity within the Ministries of Education to undertake the project as key personnel were working on other donor funded projects. PRIDE staff in Suva acknowledged that "some countries had little time for the project" and it provided just a "small drop in the ocean" compared to what other donors were offering. ¹⁴² This meant that PRIDE significantly underspent in the area of sub-projects. ¹⁴³ There are two possible reasons for this occurrence. First, countries that were already stretched in capacity were simply looking to donors/projects where they could get the most resources, both financially and physical. The idea that donors must make their assistance attractive to recipients is a new phenomenon, and particularly prevalent in the Pacific. ¹⁴⁴ An example that was offered was Fiji which had recently been working on two large projects; a €56 million European Union infrastructure development project and an AUSAID AUD\$23 million programmatic and

¹⁴¹ Filipe Jitoko (Pacific Island Forum Secretariat), interview by author, Suva, Fiji, 21 October 2010.

¹⁴³ Puamau, Op. Cit. p. 8.

¹⁴⁴ Dr Dona Ruru (Pacific education aid researcher), interview by author, Nadi, Fiji, 22 October, 2010.

curriculum building project which had dedicated their best staff to work on these activities. The total funds combined from these projects made up almost one third of Fiji's entire national education budget. This meant there were few people physically available to work on PRIDE.¹⁴⁵

The second is that PRIDE often relied on a National Project Coordinator (NPC) to oversee and manage PRIDE's activities in each country. These people, who were mainly senior staff members in the Ministry of Education, already held a busy portfolio. When additional pressures of being an NPC were added to their workloads, NPC's were not able to access or utilise PRIDE to its full potential. PRIDE in its *End of Completion Report* noted that capacity building activities needed to extend beyond just the NPC. In PRIDE's project design the NPC was supposed to be senior enough within the Ministry to be able to set and offer direction. In reality these people had so many responsibilities they were a liability for the in-country progress of the project. Ultimately this example shows that you cannot simply throw money at countries to help with educational delivery. There are a lot of other players involved in this area which take up valuable human capacity and resources. Ironically a true SWAP in each country would be able to harmonise and align every donors efforts. It is clear that educational aid has to be very strategic to be utilised and sustained.

Donor Power Struggles

Sector Wide Approaches are essentially a World Bank approach to development. Previous World Bank approaches have been criticised for their implementation methods particularly for encouraging highly "homogenised and Western recipes of development". There is increasing concern that SWAPs are just another way for the World Bank to push their neo-liberal economic policies which have had devastating effects for some developing countries. As Steven Klees states, "the

.

¹⁴⁵ Jitoko, interview.

¹⁴⁶ Puamau, Op. Cit. p. 8.

¹⁴⁷ University of South Pacific, *PRIDE: End of Completion Report*, Op. Cit. p. 49.

¹⁴⁸ Catherine Caufield, *Masters of Illusion: The World Bank and the* Poverty of Nations, (New York: Henry Holt and Co., 1997), p. 24.

¹⁴⁹ Steven Kless discusses how the strategies under SAP's to spur economic growth vastly increased inequality within developing countries and marginalised the poor even further. Information taken from Klees, Op. Cit. p.114.

result so far has been a SAP in SWAPs clothing." He also believes that SWAPs enable donors to become stronger and monolithic. Aid recipients are less able to find space to follow their own agendas and SWAPs further fuel the unequal power balance of the donor community because donors ultimately set the direction of the sectoral plan which dictates how a country's education system will evolve. 151

Ironically, global debates of donors pushing and following their own agendas resonated strongly within PRIDE. During the initial planning stages of the project it was agreed that a small team, made up of nationals from Fiji, Samoa, New Zealand, Australia and the UK would be appointed to develop a single regional basic education project that would identify basic education problems, review relevant documentation, consider related activities of other donors, assess the feasibility of involving a range of regional stakeholders, and consider how the project implementation mechanisms would work. 152 The team travelled to forteen different countries for consultations with government, non-government actors, and education stakeholders to research what education issues were apparent within their local contexts. These meetings enabled the team to "ascertain local perspectives on various basic education and aid delivery issues, including ongoing programmes and possibilities for the project." ¹⁵³

Utilising feedback received it was decided that the project needed to focus on Pacific youth. Education provision at the time did not provide;

A significant number of Pacific youth with the knowledge, skills, attitudes and values that enables them to participate in the social, spiritual, economic and cultural development of their communities as individuals, community members and citizens. More specifically, there are a significant number of Pacific youth within and outside the formal school system who have not achieved basic education outcomes. 154

Therefore in the project proposal document put forward to donors (the EU and NZAID) it stated the focus of PRIDE should be;

¹⁵⁰ Klees, Op. Cit. p. 114.

¹⁵¹ Ibid., p. 112.

¹⁵² Coxon and Munce, Op. Cit. p.154.

¹⁵³ Ibid., p. 156.

¹⁵⁴ Ibid.

To enhance the capacity of Pacific education agencies to effectively plan and deliver quality basic education, through formal or non-formal means, so that defined basic education outcomes are achieved by Pacific [emphasis added] youth, providing a foundation for further education, training, personal development and/or employment activities in the formal or in-formal sectors¹⁵⁵

Unfortunately this proposed focus was not supported by the two aforementioned donors. Both parties highlighted their concerns and ultimately wanted changes to be made. Whilst the team expressed their disappointment at the 'heavy handedness' of donors overriding Pacific stakeholders and disregarding the spirit of 'participation, consultation and transparency' that had characterised the project to date, changes to the project design were ultimately made. The overarching objective contained a critical difference from the original proposal.

In the final design document the focus became;

To enhance the capacity of pacific education agencies to effectively plan and deliver quality basic education through formal and non-formal means and to improve the coordination of donor inputs to assist countries implement their plans. 156

The entire emphasis during the design process had originally been on Pacific youth, however, in the final version there was no such mention or focus. In addition, there was now a focus on the development of Education Strategic Plans. As the donors are ultimately providing money and resources they can have the final say on how and where such inputs are used.

Ownership in a regional model

The notion of ownership within a regional model is problematic. PRIDE acknowledged that opportunities may have been missed as the design and inception of this regional project needed to take into better account country specific situation analyses. The project's mandate does not completely recognise major variations in

¹⁵⁵ Ibid., p. 159. ¹⁵⁶ Ibid.

the stages of development in different education systems across the region. 157 As little analysis had been undertaken on this during the initial design stages the support mechanisms were not always applicable or appropriate for every country. In addition the project's mandate of strategic planning was not needed for every single country. Had such situation analyses been undertaken in the design stages it is likely that a different set of project implementation arrangements would have been rolled out for a number of countries. 158 There is certainly a tension with any regional model and how it deals with differing abilities of countries within its area.

While the project is proudly 'Pacific-centric' it highlights the difference between 'Pacific ownership' and 'country ownership'. Once PRIDE commenced some critics of PRIDE believed that the projects mandate imposed a regional 'one size fits all' agenda, and did not take into account the vast differences in education quality, delivery, and capacity across the region. Although PRIDE encouraged country ownership in many aspects, it was ultimately a regional project whose mandate was decided by a task group in Suva, Fiji. For some countries the project's mandate of strategic planning was not a necessity as these processes had already begun. The only countries to really utilise PRIDE's help in having their education plans developed were Federated States of Micronesia, the Marshall Islands and Palau. Whilst Fiji, Kiribati, Nauru, Samoa, Tokelau and Tuvalu had some assisted help at national level and Papua New Guinea and Solomon Islands at provincial level with education planning. The Cook Islands, Vanuatu, Tonga, and Niue were being supported already by bilateral or multilateral donors with this activity (as were PNG and Solomon Islands at a national level). 159 While PRIDE helped solidify some countries plans, for others the project became just another individual project-based assignment, which is exactly what SWAPs and sector planning were attempting to avoid.

Development and its changing environment

Over the last decade the development and aid environment has undergone some serious transformations. The Paris Declaration and Accra conventions on aid effectiveness represent a very different way of thinking about aid design and

¹⁵⁷ This includes capacity, achievement levels and support systems

¹⁵⁸ University of South Pacific, *PRIDE: End of Completion Report*, Op. Cit. p. 50. Ibid., p. 17.

implementation. New approaches and modalities have emerged which have transferred from global models/ideas down into development work within the Pacific. While PRIDE was being implemented, many countries, including PNG, Solomon Islands, Tonga, Samoa, the Cook Islands and Vanuatu formally entered into a SWAP as *the* key strategy for education sector development. While PRIDE and SWAPs share many commonalities PRIDE is not an actual SWAP model. As it stands PRIDE ran in parallel to the SWAPs. For countries that had not implemented a formal SWAP, PRIDE held potential to be utilised and facilitate those countries into creating their own SWAP. Designs of future regional projects must therefore take into account this new environment for development assistance, particularly if SWAPs are becoming the 'way to do business' in the Islands. This recognition will reduce transaction costs and simplify monitoring and evaluation reporting requirements.

Conclusion

The secondary literature tells us that SWAPs have the potential to revolutionise development practices. They are based on notions of coordination, participation and ownership within countries. They are characterised by a certain set of operating principles rather than a concrete set of activities or actions. Through creating an overarching vision and plan for sectors, donors and stakeholders can work together in an efficient and cohesive way. There is less likelihood of duplication and development projects will be based on wider sector priorities, not just donor priorities. It is not surprising, therefore, that PRIDE attempted to incorporate ideals of top-level sector planning into its project mandate. The project's vision of creating strategic plans for education systems throughout the region aligns perfectly with wider global development agendas. In theory, having a strong pathway for governments and stakeholders to utilise, would help facilitate better management, infrastructure and educational delivery which in turn would help achieve basic education and global EFA goals.

The fundamental tensions of SWAPs and PRIDE is that having a strong sector plan does not necessarily guarantee it will be committed to or used appropriately. Certain preconditions in the macroeconomic, policy and institutional environment are necessary. In addition, pre-existing capacity and infrastructure must be present in

order to facilitate this lengthy process. Alignment to the sector strategy from all stakeholders involved and a commitment to working off the strategy must guide all actions forward. This can be difficult as donors can work to their own priorities, are often dictated by their taxpayers' perceptions, politics and leadership within their countries. In many situations certain elements of the SWAP may be created, for example a sector strategy/plan, however not all donors or stakeholders involved in the sector will use it. Some donors are not able to commit themselves to the sectoral plan so will continue to provide individual funded projects. What the SWAP can do is allow sectors to think more strategically and reorganise themselves to be more effective.

PRIDE is not specifically a SWAP as it has more flexibility in its approach. The project was not just guided by a set of operating principles, but provided funding for direct implementation of activities through its sub-projects. It also had many capacity building activities to help build up capabilities for personnel involved in the education sectors. A key force holding back the success of SWAPs and sector plans is the limited human capacity. PRIDE demonstrated foresight by incorporating capacity building into its mandate. By filtering money through several different key areas and allowing countries to put forward their own priorities and applications for funding (for the sub-projects) there was less likelihood of complete donor ownership and control. An authentic SWAP only provides funding and resources to reorganise top levels of a sector. PRIDE allowed access to funding for sub-project activities to a wide range of education stakeholders including NGOs and civil society groups. It also consulted with and included personnel in its capacity building activities from not just within the ministries of Education but teachers, community leaders, NGOs and other key stakeholders. PRIDE's scope and outreach was therefore broader than a SWAP. Ultimately it seems that PRIDE took the most popular and promising components of SWAPs and attempted to incorporate a local Pacific 'spin'. As the project was not guided by the World Bank, the founder of the SWAP model, it was able to do this.

The following chapter will explore how PRIDE evolved within the Solomon Islands. The Solomon Islands is an interesting country to analyse as a national education SWAP was beginning just as PRIDE was commencing. In addition, the country was coming out of civil war which threw the education sector into disarray for a number

of years. The chapter will therefore analyse how the two initiatives fitted together, what overlap occurred, tensions between the commonalities and what results were able to be achieved. Field research as well as secondary literature will help draw conclusions on the above areas.

CHAPTER FOUR – THE PRIDE PROJECT WITHIN THE SOLOMON ISLANDS

Whilst the Solomon Islands is small in size, it has faced large economic, social and political problems since colonisation which have plagued its development. The Solomon Islands is a developing country located within Melanesia, in the southwest Pacific Ocean. It comprises over 1000 Islands scattered across 1400 kilometres of sea. 160 Overtime, the Solomon Islands has become the second largest recipient of ODA flows into the Pacific region. This brings with it a multitude of development practitioners, organisations and has really created a development 'industry'. An overall dependency mentality pervades a large number of government departments, including the Ministry of Education. Educational aid has achieved a large amount. However, this has brought a large number of external actors and consultants into the picture. Issues of access, participation and quality in education were prevalent and ultimately were compounded when civil war broke out in the Solomon Islands in 1999. After years of underlying tensions, a civil war erupted between the Guadalcanal Revolutionary Army and Malaitan settlers. During the four year conflict, a large number of people were killed, wounded and displaced. Government departments closed down or ran at minimal capacity and a general state of chaos ruled. As the conflict receded donors were quick to encourage the development of an education sector wide approach (SWAP) to help the Government and Ministry of Education put in place better planning and strategic frameworks as well as coordinating donors to work together better. This new approach after the conflict was hoped to bring a fresh start and inject new modalities towards helping achieve basic education levels.

As the new SWAP was establishing, the PRIDE Project was beginning to be implemented in 14 Pacific countries. This chapter will explore how the Solomon Islands participated in PRIDE's three key areas as set out in the previous chapter-strategic planning, implementation of strategic plans through sub-project activities and strengthening of regional capacity. Discussion on PRIDE's successes and challenges will be looked at through the lens of four areas; capacity, ownership,

_

¹⁶⁰ Sinclair Dinnen, 'Winners and Losers: Politics and Disorder in the Solomon Islands 2000-2002', *The Journal of Pacific History*, 37/3 (2002), p. 285.

donor power struggles and the changing donor environment. Discussion will also focus on how PRIDE sits in relation to the education SWAP. Overall discussion will conclude that PRIDE's activities within the Solomon Islands were largely disappointing and due to timing, capacity and resource issues, failed to achieve a lasting legacy for the project.

The conflict

With a population of just over half a million people, the bulk of Solomon Islanders live across six main Islands: Guadacanal, Malaita, Choisuel, Santa Isabel, Makira and New Georgia. Only 16 percent of the population is urbanised, whilst a staggering 84 percent of people remain in several thousand villages. Tribes and kinship hold the majority of land under customary arrangements. There are around 80 different languages spoken and, like their neighbouring countries Papua New Guinea and Vanuatu, primary identities and allegiances remain implanted in local languages. ¹⁶¹ The vast majority of people live in rural villages and subsidence living is predominantly practised. Rural villages share limited participation in the cash economy, only participating in selling fish, plants and garden products at local markets. ¹⁶²

With few services available and a limited number of employment opportunities, many Solomon Islanders have driven rapid urbanisation to Guadalcanal, in particular the capital Honiara. The majority of infrastructural investment and development has been focused on the capital which means a number of economic opportunities are also available there. Large numbers of migrants come from the adjoining, densely populated Island of Malaita to seek out employment opportunities. These include on the plantations on the Guadalcanal Plains, in Government Departments/Ministries, businesses and services or since 1997 within 'The Gold Ridge Mine' located to the East of the Capital. Tension began to mount as the Guadalcanal people felt that the new settlers were prospering unfairly at the expense of locals. By the 1990s, many large Malaitan settlements were flourishing on the northern side of

_

¹⁶¹ Ibid.

¹⁶² Bob Pollard, 'Solomon Islands Education and Donor Assistance in the Post Conflict Period' in Kabini Sanga & Ana Taufe'ulungaki (ed.), '*International Aid Impacts on Pacific Education'*, (Wellington: He Parekereke, Institute for Research and Development in Maori and Pacific Education, Victoria University, 2005), p.156.

¹⁶³ Dinnen, Op. Cit. p. 285.

Guadalcanal. Although this land had been obtained with permission from landowners, some communities 'extended beyond the original agreed basis for settlement' turning the land into squatter communities which had on-going socio-economic effects for surrounding areas. ¹⁶⁴ In addition, the Guadalcanal people felt they were not receiving adequate economic benefits from their land as well as missing out on job opportunities, which instead were going to perceived 'outsiders'. These issues of land tenure, culture and deprivation grew over decades, and coupled with corrupt and incompetent government officials not intervening, grievances came to a violent head in 1999. The conflict in the Solomon Islands was inevitable as a volatile mix of social, political, economic and criminal/corruption issues had been brewing for many years.

After stockpiling home-made and rehabilitated World War Two weapons since the mid-1990s, the Guadalcanal Revolutionary Army (GRA), later renamed the Isatabu Freedom Movement (IFM) embarked on a violent campaign of harassment and intimidation, directed mainly against Malaitan settlers in 1999. Thousands of settlers were chased under gunpoint out from their homes and were forced to seek refuge in Honiara or return to their own Islands. Within a short space of time an open warfare had begun and by June 1999 the Government was forced to declare a state of emergency within Guadalcanal. 165 The Townsville Peace Agreement was signed the following year in October 2000 which was warmly welcomed by locals. Once the initial euphoria of the agreement wore off, there was a realisation that significant challenges still continued to plague the Solomon Islands. Large numbers of weaponry remained in communities, militia involved in the fighting were still 'at large' and the already fragile national economy was on the brink of completely collapsing. Continued corruption and disruption to civil institutions led the country to what Bob Pollard describes as "drifting the nation toward anarchy". 166 An atmosphere of lawlessness, widespread corruption and prevailing bankruptcy continued on until 2003.

Despite continued offers of help from its surrounding neighbours, including New Zealand and Australia, the Solomon Islands only formally requested international

¹⁶⁴ Pollard, Op. Cit. p. 158.

¹⁶⁵ Dinnen, Op. Cit. p. 287.

¹⁶⁶ Pollard, Op Cit. p. 158.

assistance in April 2003. The Prime Minister of the Solomon Islands, Sir Allan Kemakeza made an urgent request to other countries in the region to help him curb "the many and serious problems facing his troubled nation". ¹⁶⁷ In response to this request, a meeting was quickly convened in Canberra, Australia where the Solomon Island Government representatives, along with Pacific Island Forum representatives met. They agreed on a mandate to address civil unrest and lawlessness, economic decline, corruption and a dramatic drop in service delivery and government administrative standards. Subsequently on July 22, 2003, the Solomon Island National Parliament unanimously passed the 'Facilitation of International Assistance Act 2003' which gave authority to foreign countries to participate in RAMSI domestic activities, the Regional Assistance Mission to the Solomon Islands. ¹⁶⁸

Within two days of this Act being passed, on July 24 2003, soldiers, police and civilians arrived from Australia, Cook Islands, Fiji, Kiribati, Nauru, New Zealand, Papua New Guinea, Samoa, Tonga and Vanuatu to participate in RAMSI activities. Eventually there were over two thousand foreign personnel serving in the Islands. The primary objective of RAMSI was to halt the downward economic and political spiral, help restore law and order and help rebuild the country's weakened economic and governing institutions. ¹⁶⁹ The lack of law and order within the police force was identified as a critical failure in the lead up to, and during, the conflict. The police force had been neglected for so many years that it allowed injustices 'to fester'. The Solomon Island Police force was ill prepared for the conflict and could do little to contain the violence once it had begun. In addition, a lack of national leadership and good governance was seen as a re-occurring theme. Post-independence governments had done little to address the entrenched societal issues that eventually fuelled the conflict, not only at national level, but also at provincial and local levels. Corruption and crime had plagued government structures and nepotism flourished. Ultimately this lack of leadership was seen as an obstacle to peace. Strengthening the police and government leadership were therefore seen as identified as RAMSI's primary priorities.

¹⁶⁷ RAMSI, http://www.ramsi.org/about/history.html, (accessed 14 December 2010).

¹⁶⁸ Ibid

¹⁶⁹ David Hegarty et al., 'Rebuilding State and nation in Solomon Islands: Policy options for the Regional Assistance Mission', State *Society and Governance in Melanesia Discussion Paper: Austalian National University*, 2 (2004), p. 1.

Education in the Solomon Islands

Like many other Pacific countries, education was first introduced to the Solomon Islands through Christian missionaries. Christian missions opened schools in various parts of the Islands during the first half of the 1900's. The curriculum was described as 'education with Christianisation' teaching basic literacy skills alongside Christian beliefs. The church placed importance on education as it was a way to further its work and teachings. The British remained in control of the Solomon Islands until 1976 and full independence was achieved in 1978. The newly formed Solomon Islands Government needed skilled and educated people to administer new positions and provide personnel for the growing public sector. From 1976, the Government took over the responsibility of providing education; schools during this time were effectively transferred from church groups to the Government. Whilst all primary schools were now under the control of the Government, some secondary schools remained within the control of churches. The Government pushed education as a way to get formal employment and for many Solomon Islanders education was seen as 'desirable and a doorway to opportunity'. 171 During the years of independence secondary education was only attended by the elite, whilst primary school was mostly accessible to all (ironically this still remains today).

During the 1980's, a World Bank supported initiative saw an injection of funding and resources to boost the number of provincial secondary schools. Due to access and location issues many of the schools were established as boarding schools so young people could attend from different areas. The curriculum set up in these schools was based more on vocational training. This angered a lot of parents who could not understand why their children were not learning what they perceived as an 'academic education' off the national curriculum. This protest was swiftly met by all provincial schools moving away from vocational education toward adopting a national secondary schools curriculum. Bob Pollard believes this obsession with formal secondary school education was understandable as, up until the early 1990's, all those who were able to finish secondary school were almost guaranteed formal employment.¹⁷²

¹⁷⁰ Bob Pollard, Op. Cit. p.159.

¹⁷¹ Ibid

¹⁷² Ibid., p. 160.

The mid 1990's saw a new evolution of community schools establishing themselves. These were often attached to primary schools and were predominantly run by communities who recognised that their children may not be able to access schooling beyond primary level. Despite this community level involvement, the Government paid teachers salaries. Like all areas, finding qualified and trained teachers was a challenge and many community schools struggled to find teachers who could teach a wide range of subjects. 173 The conflict between 1999-2003 essentially compounded a number of existing educational issues, particularly with the closing of schools and government departments becoming ineffective and disorganised.

Education during the post conflict years

During the four year conflict, underlying issues of access, participation and provision were all compounded. The conflict forced a number of schools in and around the capital to shut and caused a lot of disruption to government departments, including the Ministry of Education and Finance. This meant that few teachers were paid during the conflict and little money was available for additional resources. Whilst some employees "stuck it out" many people left, which sent the whole education system into disarray. 174 Once the tensions calmed the education sector resumed work. However, significant gaps continue to plague the sector due to the four years without proper service.

Participation in Education

The demand for education in the Solomon Islands has grown exponentially. The premise that formal academic schooling provides access to formal employment and income has driven this demand. However, much of this growth was unprepared for and unplanned, resulting in a disjointed and often complex system that is poorly administered and managed. Many schools are sparsely resourced and have the bare minimum equipment to operate. Is it rare to find schools with libraries and laboratory spaces for sciences and other subjects. The everyday maintenance and running of schools is largely left up to the community to manage. Early childhood education (ECE) has been a late phenomenon and the majority of ECE centres are community

¹⁷³ Ibid.

¹⁷⁴ Maelyn Kuve (Permanent Secretary to the Solomon Islands Ministry of Educationand PRIDE Project Officer for the Solomon Islands), interview by author, Honiara, Solomon Islands, 1 November 2010.

run and managed. ECE only received an official curriculum during the early 2000's. Formal schooling begins at age six and, despite the Government's desire for primary school to be compulsory, this is not enforced. Secondary schooling is seven years in total and students must sit exams in Form Three to allow them to move onto Forms Four and Five. Very few students will participate in Form Six and Seven. For those who are not able to continue onwards, there are limited spaces available in vocational training centres. However these centres are limited in number and students leave with no formal or recognised qualification. To be able to enter a tertiary institution, students must have completed the equivalent of five years of secondary education (up to Form Five). In 2003, 42 percent of students ended their education after primary school largely due to limited spaces being available in secondary schools. With an annual growth rate of 2.8 percent, the secondary school population will be approximately 146,000 students by 2015, whilst in 2002 this number was only 87,000. With growth and demand ever increasing, the need for trained teachers and classrooms is overwhelming.

Access to Education

The 2004 census found that 72.3 percent of boys and 70.1 percent of girls attended primary school (making a mean of 71.2 percent). Participation rates at all levels of education are amongst the lowest in the Pacific region. Whilst the four year conflict in 1999 had many detrimental effects on education services for the country, access to education has been a recurring problem throughout Solomon Islands history. The physical remoteness of some islands and communities make service delivery, finding qualified teachers and providing infrastructure very difficult. For some isolated communities there is virtually no access to education services meaning that many young children either have to leave home to stay with relatives/friends in a neighbouring district or simply not attend school at all. While education was heralded as the path through which employment could be gained, this view is diminishing. For some parents, sending their children to school (particularly in logistically difficult situations) is seen as futile. The growing disillusionment with

_

¹⁷⁵ Pollard, Op Cit. p. 161.

¹⁷⁶ Ibid., p. 169.

¹⁷⁷ Solomon Islands National Statistics Office.

<u>http://www.spc.int/prism/country/sb/stats/Social/Education/primnet-enrol.htm</u>, (accessed 16 December 2010).

¹⁷⁸ Pollard, Op. Cit, p. 162.

schooling is making parents ask the common question, 'education for what?', particularly if little to no job opportunities are available.

Education Curriculum

Over the years curriculum development has been severely neglected. This has meant that some students are leaving primary school unable to read or write. Illiteracy fuels further development challenges for the country. Like many other Pacific countries there is concern about the relevance and appropriateness of what children are learning and how it equips them for 'Solomon Island life'. Often there is not enough in the Government's budget to produce curriculum materials to cater for all schools across the country. This means schools in outer and rural areas are less likely to receive teaching resources or curricula support. The provision of a relevant curriculum to such a diverse and rapidly growing population is not being met. 179

Teachers

Finding and retaining trained and qualified teachers is another challenge for the Ministry of Education. Ministry of Education records show that the mobility of teachers within the Solomon Islands is incredibly high. Teachers are either moved by the Ministry of Education from one school to another, or do so on the own accord. This creates uncertainty and makes forward planning for schools and their communities difficult. All teachers are paid by the Ministry of Finance and paying some teachers who live on outer islands or within remote areas can be a logistically difficult and costly task. Some teachers have to travel considerable distances to pick up their fortnightly pay check. In addition, approximately 20 percent of all teachers at primary school level and 16 percent at secondary school level are untrained. Whilst there is a tertiary qualification available in teacher training from the Solomon Island College of Higher Education (SICHE), the institution is not able to produce enough teachers to meet the growing demands. The Ministry of Education is candid in admitting that they employ untrained teachers to fill vacancies across the country. 180

¹⁷⁹ Ibid., p. 170. ¹⁸⁰ Ibid,

Educational Aid

The Solomon Islands are the second biggest recipient of foreign aid flows in the Pacific. Second to Papua New Guinea the country receives almost 17 percent of the regions Overseas Development Assistance (ODA). Wider ODA going into the Solomon Islands has very much permeated through the education system which is now heavily dependent on its financial flows. From building and construction, curriculum maintenance, scholarship schemes and training, all are likely to involve some form of foreign assistance. As Pollard believes, a dependence mentality pervades and penetrates the education system and is a self perpetuating cycle. Although aid has brought and achieved many great results, it brings with it certain conditions and objectives which are often donor driven. Even if the intent of aid is optimistic and positive, the fact that it comes from donors may ultimately undermine the whole process and outcome. Educational aid is often seen in the Solomon Islands as inappropriate and out of context to local needs.

The management of aid and the relationships that come with it often create an industry in itself. Aid management has created jobs and offices which sit alongside regular educational institutions. These offices hold a considerable amount of power and can dictate the direction of the education sector. Whilst donors look to the Solomon Islands Government and Ministry of Education for direction, donors still bring certain biases and agendas. Aid programmes have been known to run to the timelines of the donor and because such dependency exists, the education systems are forced to "dance to the same tune." Cooperation between donors can be difficult as they have different timelines and their own criteria to stick to. Whilst some cooperation between donors is present there is a certain level of competition between them. Ultimately, as previous chapters have highlighted as a similar issue throughout the region, the Ministry of Education was spending a considerable amount of time working to, and for, donors. Individual donor projects were also not always producing relevant and sustainable results creating much frustration.

¹⁸¹ OECD, 'Development at a glance- Statistics by region- Oceania', 2010, http://www.oecd.org/dataoecd/43/29/42139429.pdf, (accessed 10 December 2010), p. 7. ¹⁸² Pollard, Op. Cit. p. 174.

<u>SWAP</u>

As the conflict was ending in 2003, a Sector Wide Approach (SWAP) was put forward as a mode of aid delivery to address many of the problems the Ministry of Education and Human Resources (MEHRD) were experiencing. The Permanent Secretary of Education, Dr Derek Sikua, was a key architect in the development of the SWAP. He noted that having watched and experienced educational aid projects during the 1980s and 1990s that they often "had parallel structures, constant flows of technical assistants who worked for donors rather than the Solomon Islands' Ministry, had confined times frames and narrow focuses meaning that too many things were missed out." ¹⁸³ Overall the Ministry of Education felt there had to be a better way of operating and working with donors. The Permanent Secretary did research into aid delivery mechanisms in other countries, believing that the SWAP model would offer a fresh perspective. Dr Sikua particularly applauded SWAPs holistic approach, strategic and systemic thinking and felt it could offer "a new positive way forward for the country." ¹⁸⁴ He explains that "now the technical advisors work for us, not the project - they are commissioned by MEHRD and report to MEHRD." 185 It was also a model being heavily promoted by both NZAID and the EU at the time. While the SWAP was being developed, the EU and NZAID provided temporary recovery measures from 2002-2004 to help the education sector rebuild and become operational again. The immediate need was to address an acute revenue shortage which had drastically fallen with the collapse of government finances during the conflict period. 186

NZAID and the EU continued their support and formally entered into the SWAP with the Ministry of Education in 2004. Having only two agencies involved in the process was deliberate. Not only was it less logistically difficult but it meant other partners could be directed to other ministries. For example AUSAID was steered toward the Ministry of Health to help with their activities. A National Education Strategic Plan (ESP) was put together which set the direction for education delivery in the Solomon Islands for 2004-2006. The Education Sector Investment and Reform

¹⁸³ Eve Coxon and Eric Pedersen, *Review of the Solomon Island Education Sector Wide Approach Agreement*, (Pederson Pierce Ltd, 2009), p. 8.

⁸⁴ Ibid.

¹⁸⁵ Ibid.

¹⁸⁶ University of South Pacific, Solomon Islands PRIDE: End of Completion Report, Part One, Summary Report (October 2010), p. 4.

Programme developed as a framework for governance, (ESIRP) was implementation, monitoring and review of the Strategic Plan. A memorandum of understanding was signed in June 2004 between the Solomon Islands Government, NZAID and EU. Phase Two of the programmes was to be guided by the National Education Strategic Framework 2007-2015 and National Education Action Plan 2007-2009. All three strategic plans and strategies were established with the broader aim of improving access, quality and management of education in the medium and longer term. They also were seen as stepping stones to meet the Millennium Development Goals. All align principles of ownership, alignment and predictability as set out in the Paris Declaration of Aid Effectiveness. 187 Under the agreements the Solomon Islands Government would manage the process and allocate aid and resources from donors to priority areas as outlined in their national education strategies.

The PRIDE Project

The section below outlines specifically how the Solomon Islands participated in the PRIDE Project's three key areas; strategic planning, sub-projects and capacity building. Information gathered for this section is from PRIDE 'End of Completion' Project Reports as well as interviews carried out in Suva and Honiara.

Key Area One: Creation of comprehensive strategic plans covering formal and nonformal education

In PRIDE's *End of Completion Report*, the Review team found that PRIDE's assistance in Key Area One was extremely limited within the Solomon Islands. PRIDE's mandate was to help foster and facilitate better educational planning across the region to achieve the goals laid out in the Forum Basic Education Action Plan (FBEAP). However, the Solomon Islands was ahead in the region and had already begun the early stages of creating its own SWAP. By the time PRIDE was established, it had developed its own National Education Action Plan for 2004-2006 and was in the process of rolling it out across the country. With on-going assistance being provided from its two key education partners, NZAID and EU, there was little need for further technical assistance being offered by PRIDE. From an interview in Honiara with Maelyn Kuve, the Permanent Secretary of the Ministry of Education

-

¹⁸⁷ Coxon and Pedersen, Op. Cit. p. 9.

she stated, "we didn't really need PRIDE initially to help with our sectoral planning, we more just looked at PRIDE as filling any gaps." This meant that the first key area of PRIDE in the Solomon Islands was not relevant or needed.

Key Area Two: Implementation of Strategic Plans

Under Key Area Two, PRIDE participating countries were able to seek funding to implement certain aspects of their strategic plans as sub- projects. The Solomon Islands implemented nine sub- projects in total from 2004-2010. This became the more concrete component of PRIDE and helped fill gaps with the national strategic education plans and SWAP. Below is a short summary report of the sub-project activities taken from the 'Solomon Islands PRIDE- End of Project Completion Report' which is supplemented by field research findings.

Table 1: PRIDE Sub -Projects within the Solomon Islands 189

Sub- Projects Title	Managed by
SOL 001 Implementation of Assessment	National Examinations and
Resource Tools for Teaching and Learning	Standards Unit within the
(ARTTLE)	Ministry of Education
SOL 002 Education for Visually Impaired	Ministry of Health
SOL 003 Vernacular Education Pilot Project	Ministry of Education
SOL 004 Completion of Provincial Education Plans	Ministry of Education
SOL 005 Teacher Supply, Demand and Deployment Study	Ministry of Education
SOL 006 Development of Basic Education Policy	Ministry of Education
SOL 007 Early Childhood Education	Ministry of Education

¹⁸⁸ Kuve, Interview.

¹⁸⁹ Table taken from University of South Pacific, *Solomon Islands PRIDE*, Op. Cit. p. 7.

National Curriculum	
SOL 008 Pilot Project for School Based	Ministry of Education
Environmental Education	
SOL 009 Solomon Islands Language	Ministry of Education
Vernacular Policy	
TOTAL SPENT	
SBD \$2, 799, 569	
(USD \$341,830.68)	

Each sub-project was reviewed and evaluated by a team in August 2010. Each sub-project's outcomes were assessed using a four category framework, these included;

- Project EXCEEDED EXPECTATIONS: The outcomes of the project were more than expected
- Project was SUCCESSFUL: The sub-project met all of its objectives
- Project was PARTLY SUCCESSFUL: The sub-project met some of its objectives
- Project was UNCESSEFUL: The intended objectives of the project were not achieved

In addition, each sub-project was assessed on whether it was likely to be sustained beyond PRIDE's completion. Each sub-project was put into six categories, these were;

- Highly likely
- Likely
- Potential to be sustained
- Unlikely

Highly Unlikely

No sustainability issue¹⁹⁰

SOL 001 Implementation of Assessment Resource Tools for Teaching and Learning

(ARTTLE)

Success against Objectives: Partly Successful

Sustainability: Likely to be sustained

This sub-project was created shortly after a national standardised achievement test in

2004 of all Class Four children showed that almost 50 percent of students were not

achieving learning outcomes for their age group. ARTTLE was conceived as a

remedial strategy to help underachieving students. The specific objectives of the sub-

project were to prepare resources and activities that would help teachers identify

non-performing students within their classrooms. Unfortunately this sub-project did

not proceed as planned and failed to achieve a large amount during the first three

years. Finding appropriate and trained staff to create and carry out the intricacies of

the project was highlighted as the main reason for this. The person who created the

proposal left the National Examinations and Standards Unit (NESU) shortly after the

proposal was placed. As there was limited human capacity to take this forward the

project was eventually stopped. With the original proposer returned to NESU in

early 2010 some progress was eventually made. The Ministry of Education

recognises the importance of this project and has included the programme in its 2011

budget estimates (hence why it has been labelled 'likely to be sustained'). 191

SOL 002 Education for Visually Impaired

Success against Objectives: Partly Successful

Sustainability: Unlikely to be sustained

This sub-project was based on a pilot survey carried out in 2004 that highlighted 16

percent of all children with disabilities also had visual impairment issues. The

objective of the sub-project was to integrate children with visual impairment issues

 190 University of South Pacific, $\,$ Solomon Islands PRIDE, Op. Cit. p. 7. 191 Ibid., p. 13.

back into mainstream education through better school support systems and resources.

This project also experienced major implementation problems during its preliminary

years. Finding the right personnel to oversee the project was highlighted as a major

constraint. Ultimately, an AUSAID funded volunteer was engaged as Project Officer

and steered the project down a new path. The project was geographically narrowed

to just Honiara. Subsequently during 2009, 9953 eye screenings were conducted,

large print materials were distributed to schools and an awareness programme for

teachers and schools was given out of the project's headquarters. 192

SOL 003 Vernacular Education Pilot Project

Success against Objectives: Partly Successful

Sustainability: Likely to be sustained

This sub-project was based on raising awareness of using vernacular language in

teaching and learning in the Zahana area of Isabel Province. The project aimed to

provide vernacular training for teachers, learning materials and assessment tools to

test how schools were performing with implementing a vernacular programme. The

project was hoped to be a pilot which could help shape a national vernacular policy

for the Solomon Islands. Unfortunately the sub-project did not proceed as planned.

The sub-project coordinator left the Solomon Islands soon after the project

commenced. With the departure of key staff within the implementing agency and a

change of staff within the Ministry of Education even deciphering exact project

details was incredibly difficult to come by. The only reason why this project is

'likely to be sustained' is that key elements are being assured through sub-project

SOL 009.¹⁹³

SOL 004 Completion of Provincial Education Action Plans

Success against Objectives: Successful

Sustainability: Likely to be sustained

This sub-project helped engage a technical assistant to check and edit the data within

the National Provincial Education Action Plans. An expert, Mr Uke Kombre, was

¹⁹² Ibid., p. 14. ¹⁹³ Ibid., p. 15.

hired from Papua New Guinea for 42 days to put the documents in a uniform format.

Overall, the Ministry of Education greatly benefitted from having the provincial

plans aligned to wider national plans. Each province has also benefitted from having

their own plans placed within local context specific objectives. The only issues

highlighted were that some provinces had not yet implemented the plans created for

them. 194

SOL 005 Teacher Supply, Demand and Deployment

Success against Objectives: Partly Successful

Sustainability: Likely to be sustained

The Ministry of Education felt that a detailed study needed to be undertaken to

properly determine whether there were an adequate number of teachers being trained

within the SICHE (Solomon Island College of Higher Education) and what strategies

needed to be rolled out to deal with supply and demand. The sub-project was meant

to take the form of a pilot study that could provide recommendations to the Ministry

of Education. While initial delays were caused by the late arrival of funds, a

considerable delay occurred when trying to find suitable technical assistants to

physically undertake the study. The study's results stirred considerable discussion

after it found that there was actually an excess of teachers for both primary and

secondary levels. However, almost 50 percent of primary teachers and 45 percent of

secondary teachers were uncertified. The study made a number of recommendations

that were subsequently adopted and integrated into the Ministry of Education's

work. 195

SOL 006 Development of Basic Education Policy

Success against Objectives: Successful

Sustainability: Highly likely to be Sustained

The objective of this sub-project was to finalise the development of the Solomon

Islands Basic Education Policy document through extensive consultation with

stakeholders. Policies for both national and provincial levels were established. The

¹⁹⁴ Ibid., p. 10. ¹⁹⁵ Ibid., p. 17.

sub-project achieved its objectives and a Basic Education Policy document was

approved by Cabinet in early 2010. Basic Education subsequently within the

Solomon Islands came to be defined as starting at Year One and finishing at Year

Nine (nine years of education). 196

SOL 007 Development of Early Childhood Education Curriculum

Success against Objectives: Partly Successful

Sustainability: Likely to be sustained

The purpose of this sub-project was to write a new Solomon Islands ECE

Curriculum. Whilst some developments of the sector had been funded by NZAID

during the 1990s, no ECE curriculum existed. Therefore, PRIDE funds were used to

write a new ECE curriculum and guidelines, develop curricula frameworks and

resources and provide training for teachers. An international technical assistant was

engaged from Victoria University in Wellington, New Zealand to oversee and create

the necessary resources. Some delays were experienced in the project as the

technical assistant had limited availability which affected project outputs. In

addition, funding was not enough to cover the proposed plans. Although additional

funds were secured from UNICEF, the development of learning materials to

accompany the new curriculum did not take place. 197

SOL 008 Pilot Project for School Based Environmental Education

Success against Objectives: Successful

Sustainability: Likely to be Sustained

This sub-project was carried out in conjunction with the 'Live & Learn' NGO to start

a small but practical pilot programme in four schools to raise awareness for

environmental education. Each school was provided grants and support to teach

children top level environmental and sustainable education as well as carry out

practical activities of cleaning up school grounds, funding equipment for clean-up,

¹⁹⁶ Ibid., p. 10. ¹⁹⁷ Ibid., p. 18.

beautification and waste management. Additionally, a conference was attended by 200 people to learn more about this important, yet often over looked area. 198.

SOL 009 Solomon Islands Vernacular Language Policy

Success against Objectives: Successful

Sustainability: Likely to be Sustained

The objective of this sub-project was to build on 'SOL 003 Vernacular Education Pilot Project' and develop a national policy that 'encourages and facilitates classroom instruction in local languages in ECE and primary education'. The project was jointly funded by PRIDE and UNICEF. PRIDE funded consultations and workshops, while UNICEF funded the international technical assistant. Three models were developed for piloting and testing. In addition, a draft policy framework is currently being incorporated into the Ministry of Educations SWAP. 199

Key Area Three: Strengthened regional capacity to assist Pacific countries to support strategic planning and implementation in basic education

Another key area of PRIDE was to help build regional capacity of key education specialists through regional workshops. Altogether PRIDE organised ten regional workshops, including two specifically for National Project Coordinators. The Solomon Islands hosted one of these workshops in 2007 which focused on Early Childhood Education. Unfortunately delegates from the Solomon Islands were not able to attend two of the regional workshops which focused on Language Policy and TVET (technical and vocational education and training). Overall delegate feedback from the conferences was that the topics covered were incredibly appropriate and helped align regional agendas and goals (such as the Forum Basic Education Action Plan) with local agendas and goals. In addition, having the space to network and share common learnings and challenges helped build confidence and capabilities within the education sector. A Ministry of Education official noted "we talked about wanting good policy but we just didn't know how to write or establish them. The

¹⁹⁸ Ibid., p. 11. ¹⁹⁹ Ibid., p. 12.

workshops really helped us with this area and from them we have developed eight education policies that have been passed and approved by Parliament."²⁰⁰

A small number of Ministry of Education staff also noted that they now subscribe to NOPE (Network of Pacific Educators) and have found this a useful tool for network and information sharing.

The PRIDE Project Challenges

As outlined above, PRIDE experienced many successes within the Solomon Islands during its seven years of operation. Most notably, PRIDE's main focus within the Solomon Islands centred on the nine sub-projects that were carried out. While the results and outcomes for these were mixed, they have highlighted and worked with strategic priorities reflected within the National Education Action Plans, such as ECE, vernacular and language teaching and basic education. Despite some of these successes, PRIDE in the Solomon Islands experienced a number of constraints and challenges in implementation. Analysing PRIDE's challenges and constraints within the Solomon Islands using the four categories that were used in chapter three, will illustrate any similarities and cross over. The four categories include capacity and capability challenges, ownership, donor power struggles and the changing donor and development environment.

Capacity/Capability Challenges

The success of a regional project like this depends very much on the capacity and capabilities of the country and Ministry of Education within it. The PRIDE Project was initiated in the Solomon Islands after a very turbulent period of unrest. The education system was gradually trying to develop a recovery path from the period of social disruption. Essential services had been stopped for a number of years and most government departments and agencies had run at an absolute minimum. On a wider societal level, peace was being installed by RAMSI personnel and the country was experiencing significant social as well as political changes. Key staff and positions were vacant within the Ministry of Education and the country had limited resources and money at its disposal. Compounding this, under-resourced staff were

-

²⁰⁰ Kuve, interview.

experiencing heavy workloads with the creation of the new SWAP agreement with NZAID and the EU.

The country during the post conflict years saw an influx of foreign aid and development work. ODA flows went from around USD \$60 million between 1990-1999 to USD \$162 million between 2000-2008.²⁰¹ New actors and donors became involved and many new projects were formed. The SWAP is a good example of the new post conflict aid and development projects that were being started. For the Ministry of Education the SWAP provided a sizeable amount of money and resources. The funding that the Ministry of Education received from the SWAP agreement was really unlike any other grant it had dealt with before. In comparison, the money PRIDE was offering was not as attractive and was substantively less than the SWAP. Due to this, PRIDE's money and resources were not really seen as 'essential' and therefore not a large amount of human capacity or resources were devoted to it.²⁰²

Under PRIDE's mandate each country had a National Project Coordinator (NPC) who oversaw activities within each participating country. The NPC within the Solomon Islands was also the Permanent Secretary to the Solomon Islands Ministry of Education, and was playing a key role in the development of the SWAP. This considerably restricted the amount of time she was able to put into PRIDE's implementation and development. Whilst PRIDE was being pushed regionally the timing from an in-country perspective was certainly challenging for the Solomon Island Ministry of Education. 203 The post review of PRIDE and information gathered from interviews undertaken with the NPC in Honiara, found that the level of knowledge and visibility of the project within the Solomon Islands was limited. Top level management within the Ministry of Education were aware of the project, however, other education stakeholders, including middle management and teachers were not as informed of the project's mandate. Even the NPC admitted that she did not produce enough awareness of the project as she was tied up with the SWAP and other donor activities.²⁰⁴ A regional project like this requires strong leadership within country, and whilst the NPC elected was highly qualified, she did not have the time

²⁰¹ OECD, [web document] Op. Cit.

²⁰² Kuve, interview.

²⁰³ University of South Pacific, Solomon Islands PRIDE, Op. Cit. p. 26.

²⁰⁴ Kuve, interview.

to devote to maximise this project for her country. In addition, the project was very rigorous with its monitoring and evaluation, having detailed systems and frameworks in place. An NZAID official from Honiara noted in an interview that the level of documentation with the project was very rarely found within the Pacific. While there was an attempt to track money and results, it created considerable paperwork for participating countries. Certainly monitoring and evaluation of projects is an integral component of development. However in this particular case coupled with the timing of the project it became a bit of a burden for the Ministry of Education officials.

As the SWAP developed so did the capacity of the Ministry of Education. There was a gap between the first three sub-projects and the subsequent six sub-projects. Coupled with a number of regional workshops, the latter sub-projects that were implemented achieved considerably better results (four of the six subsequent subprojects were classified as 'successful'). Additionally, those projects managed by the Ministry of Education did extensively better. There was disappointment with the first two sub-projects (ARTTLE and Education for the Visually Impaired) as they were implemented outside of the Ministry of Education. Coordination of the projects was noted as particularly challenging and fell outside of the Ministry of Education's mandate/priorities at the time. The general consensus was that the first three subprojects were not well managed, operated in a state of confusion and were really just "filled gaps." A recurring theme that plagued many sub-projects was the lack of human capacity and leadership. Seven out of the nine projects experienced capacity issues. Often sub-projects relied on a key person to lead them and when this person left, the project stalled or in many cases stopped completely. In a number of cases during the early years of the initiative an external (often expatriate) technical assistant was brought in to help bring the project back on track. Clearly there is a perpetuating cycle where capacity is holding back projects so foreign consultants are brought in. Nevertheless, this does little to build the capacity of a country and stop the cycle of foreign dependence from happening again.

Dependency issues are not just limited to the Ministry of Education. Across the whole Solomon Islands Government a real dependence on external assistance occurs,

²⁰⁵ NZAID Official (NZAID Regional Office), interview by author, Suva, Fiji, 21 October, 2010.

and is expected to continue into the foreseeable future. ODA continues to increase, For example, between 2006 and 2008 a 50 percent increase in aid flows poured into the Solomon Islands. This amount of donors puts pressure on government officials to manage these relationships and takes time away from their everyday workloads. Managing aid relationships, particularly in a large ministry such as the Ministry of Education is a fine balancing act. Ultimately PRIDE was not prioritised at the time because of a multitude of other activities and therefore was not given the focus it needed to thrive.

Ownership Challenges

The PRIDE Project within the Solomon Islands took a very top down approach. PRIDE's three pronged mandate (strategic planning, sub- projects and capacity building workshops/activities) was decided at a regional level. It can be argued that PRIDE missed and replicated a number of activities and opportunities within the country. Whilst for some smaller countries the assistance with putting together strong education and strategic plans was extremely beneficial it was not needed within the Solomon Islands. Therefore the design and inception of regional projects must and should include better country specific situation analysis before they commence. While it may be hard to find a project that will cater for all countries, more flexible and project implementation arrangements should be part of a regional project. In addition, making sure timing and logistics are well suited within each country is imperative.

As PRIDE developed within the Solomon Islands there was a struggle and confusion with where the project's responsibility ultimately lay. Two out of the three subprojects within the first round were managed outside of the Ministry of Education and ultimately were not well regarded. Therefore the Ministry of Education regained control of all sub – project activities and when the second round of projects came about, the Ministry of Education managed them. Four out of the six subsequent projects undertaken in the second round were classified as 'successful' and either 'likely to be sustained' or 'highly likely to be sustained'. In addition, the second round became part of the annual work program and were aligned with the National Education Action Plan (NEAP). By this time, capacity building had occurred

²⁰⁷ Coxon and Pedersen, Op. Cit. p. 40.

through the SWAP activities and a strong steering group was formed to lead the project. This brought with it greater sense of ownership and commitment to the project and ultimately achieved better results.²⁰⁸

Donor power challenges

Ironically, the European Union and NZAID were funders of both the Solomon Islands education SWAP and the PRIDE Project. It can be argued that in the Solomon Islands both projects/initiatives had to compete against each other. As the SWAP was given priority, PRIDE was sidelined until the Ministry of Education was able to implement it. Specific elements of PRIDE were not a priority. As the EU and NZAID were already working within the Solomon Island education system internal dialogue between staff members at each agency may have been able to create a better country assessment. When NZAID staff were interviewed for this research, staff working on the PRIDE Project had little knowledge of the Solomon Islands education SWAP and vice versa. Calls for greater dialogue between development partners will not work if donors are not even able to communicate within and amongst themselves.

Parallel to these concerns looking at wider development partners that were involved with the project, only one NGO took part. The lack of participation may be systematic of wider debates of where NGOs and civil society now sit within the new sector/top level approaches. In interviews and discussions with NGO personnel at Save the Children Solomon Islands, it became clear that there was a sense of unease amongst NGOs and civil society in the country about the role that they now played in development with the introduction of SWAPs. In the Solomon Islands there is now a SWAP in the education and health sectors (two key areas for NGO work). Individual projects that were often carried out by NGOs to 'pick up the slack' are no longer seen as priorities for the big donors in the Solomon Islands, these include AUSAID and EU, and smaller players like NZAID. NGO's such as Save the Children receive significant funding through development agencies like AUSAID and NZAID. Aligning these projects to the national education plans in some cases can take NGOs away from their own mandates and priorities. Moving away from

²⁰⁸ University of South Pacific, Solomon Islands PRIDE, Op. Cit. p. 26.

supply driven, donor funded projects towards demand driven support to a Ministry of Education can logistically be very difficult.

Finding a way to align and ultimately prove goals align with the new national plans can facilitate groups to work in areas that are not their specialty or expertise. Observations gained from field researching in Honiara, is that the surroundings are logistically difficult to work in. The Ministry of Education is located in a cramped and under resourced building and staff work extremely hard. Getting access to Ministry of Education staff is a challenge and with the sheer number of donor groups present, staff can be elusive and unwilling to make time for donors, particularly if they are seen as not aligning to the sector priorities. Discussion with NGOs and the Ministry staff alluded to frustrations present on both sides. Essentially NGOs are a business and function through the delivery of development programmes. If they are not able to do this or are being restricted from doing this, it puts performance pressure on them. On the other side Ministries must align themselves with the most appropriate groups that will help them deliver their overall sector plans. A definite tension exists and will continue to exist.

The lack of involvement from civil society and NGOs raises questions of how access and participation is evolving in the Solomon Islands to development projects and funding. Are only the top level educated elite within Ministries able to access funding? Are NGOs that are only present in the capital Honiara able to access funding through face to face meetings? Potentially, the NGOs that are able to amount the most pressure for meetings are able to gain funding and 'access' to the bigger strategic plan. Certainly in PRIDE's case, there was recognition that only top level management within the Ministry of Education were aware of PRIDE for at least the first half of the project. As the Summary Report states;

Amongst middle managers and education stakeholders outside of the Ministry of Education, the level of awareness is considerably less and patchy, certainly compared to the major programs being implemented under the SWAP.²⁰⁹

²⁰⁹ University of South Pacific, Solomon Islands PRIDE, Op. Cit. p. 26.

This lack of knowledge about aid programmes is not completely unique to the PRIDE Project. Other development practitioners have complained about the exclusivity of aid and development within the Solomon Islands. Complex paperwork and bureaucracy can really prevent those who need help the most from accessing funding or resources. If literacy levels are low then complex paperwork will definitely deter. On top of this, the Solomon Islands is a particularly challenging environment to work in, limited basic infrastructure such as internet and telecommunications, a slower pace of life and vast geographical distances can make work very difficult. It seems that special attention must be be placed on utilising civil society, community groups and NGOs to make sure information filters out into communities beyond the capital, Honiara. Unfortunately, there was little capacity to champion and spread project messages with only one National Project Coordinator and a Ministry of Education in disarray.

Changing donor/development environment

The decade through which PRIDE was operational was a time of steep learning for stakeholders in development assistance. The Paris Declaration, Accra Accord and general aid effectiveness agendas reflected new approaches and modalities of aid delivery. SWAPs gained momentum and popularity, and like in the Solomon Islands case, it was heavily pushed by donor agencies. The move to adopting the SWAP within the Solomon Islands was strategic and well-timed. It was established to help revitalise and reorganise the Ministry of Education directly after post conflict years. Whilst initially Ministry of Education officials saw the SWAP as more work, they soon came to realise that it was just a different approach to working, which in the long term would be beneficial. Today, the SWAP has really been integrated into day to day operations and has been applauded by officials as improving the coordination of donors. As Kuve states, "partners now have monthly meetings, they even take turns at coordinating and running the meetings."211 The Ministry of Education has even established partnership principles which lay frameworks and boundaries of how they would like donors to work with them. In total seven development partners have signed the Principles.

²¹⁰ Alice Pollard (Aid Practitioner), interview by author, Honiara, Solomon Islands, 2 November, 2010

²¹¹ Kuve, interview.

As the previous chapter has outlined there are many similarities between the SWAPs mandate and the PRIDE Project's mandate. Both champion the notion of strong sectoral planning through which government and donors can work off, monitor and evaluate together. At the time of PRIDE's inception and phase one (creation of comprehensive strategic plans covering formal and non-formal education) the Solomon Islands was actually ahead of its time.

As Kuve notes;

At the inception of PRIDE we were very busy developing our SWAP. The main reason for PRIDE was to implement FBEAP (Forum Basic Education Action Plan) and to help countries develop their own strategic plans. The Solomon Islands was ahead of this however, we didn't really need PRIDE's help, particularly developing a sectoral plan.²¹²

Therefore, PRIDE was initially developed as a parallel project outside of the SWAP. As time passed and the Ministry of Education was in a better place to 'project manage', a lot of the sub-project activities were aligned to either the national education action or strategic plans. The level of sustainability of PRIDE project's within the Solomon Islands is actually significant. Whilst the first group of sub-projects were not well aligned and outside of the control of the Ministry of Education the second phase of sub-projects were mainstreamed into the Ministry work program. This meant they were now aligned to the SWAP and as a result achieved much better results. In total seven of the nine sub-project were classified as 'likely to be sustained'.

Conclusion

The PRIDE Project was active within the Solomon Islands from 2004 to 2010. The main area of PRIDE engagement was in the nine sub-project activities. While some key achievements were made, there is a sense that PRIDE really could have done a lot more within the Solomon Islands. Overall the project seemed to replicate other bigger education initiatives that sat outside of the Ministry of Education's annual work plans. PRIDE's overlap into the area of strategic planning, coupled with the heavy workloads of the new SWAP, meant it was simply not a priority. Ultimately,

²¹² Ibid.

the budget allocated through PRIDE was not spent and some unused sub-project funds were returned. Information about the project was not widely dispersed so it held a low profile and a lack of human capacity really held back the project's potential. As time went by and the SWAP work load became more manageable, PRIDE's activities were mainstreamed into the Ministry of Education's annual work programmes under the SWAP. This meant that areas of greater priority were funded and some successful sub-projects were produced.

PRIDE within the Solomon Islands demonstrates that regional projects must include country specific situation analysis to produce the most relevant and appropriate projects for each participating country. In addition, the changing aid and development environment requires some basic rethinking of the role that regional projects play. With the focus on and commitment to SWAPs, PRIDE experienced a bit of an identity crisis of what it was trying to achieve. While PRIDE attempted to incorporate SWAPs thinking of wider strategic planning into its mandate, it was simply not a SWAP. PRIDE was not able to offer the money or resources that donors funding the SWAP were able to give. SWAPs are very technical and resource heavy projects to implement and PRIDE could not compete. The SWAP within the Solomon Islands has been very successful at reorganising the top level of the education sector and the Ministry of Education. It has also begun the processes of getting donors to better coordinate and communicate. By looking at the four criteria set out in chapter two of how PRIDE would measure success, the following observations can be provided as a conclusion to PRIDE's activities within the Solomon Islands.

<u>Measurement One-</u> Development of strategic planning documents to deliver basic education using PRIDE resources and funding whilst building the capacity of educators so they could feel confident to enact and deliver these strategic plans

Conclusion: The Solomon Islands did not utilise PRIDE's strategic planning component at all. While some Solomon Island personnel participated in capacity building activities, this criteria was largely not successful. Through better situational analysis a clearer understanding that the Solomon Islands (along with other Pacific countries) was not in need of this Key Result Area would have been understood. As

PRIDE finishes, significant gaps remain in the provision of basic education in the country. PRIDE will have left a small and innocuous impact on this significant goal.

<u>Measurement Two-</u> Using Pacific expertise and personnel to keep knowledge generation and employment within the Pacific region.

Conclusion: PRIDE within the Solomon Islands undertook many activities that utilised local and Pacific capacity. Ministry of Education staff oversaw the roll out of a number of sub-projects and participated in the online NOPE network and various capacity building activities. However in two sub-projects technical assistants were brought in from New Zealand and Australia to get the projects back on track and finish them (these were SOL 002 Education for Visually Impaired and SOL 007 Development of Early Childhood Education Curriculum). In one sub-project, a Papua New Guinean was brought in to help with the writing and development of the Provincial Action Plans (SOL 004 Completion of Provincial Education Plans). Despite local staff being used almost every sub-project faced capacity issues. In PRIDE's review, there is constant referral to the limited number of personnel present to direct projects as well as the limited scope of knowledge within the country to write policy and enact projects. With such a strong stance against using foreign expertise, this thesis argues that it is at the projects detriment to do so. Sharing knowledge and expertise from countries that have well established systems, procedures and infrastructure could be enormously beneficial for developing countries, particularly those within the Pacific. What is important is the way in which it is done and managed. If consultants were used in a way that facilitated knowledge transfers so local people could take and adapt best practise examples into their own settings, this could be very beneficial. In addition, if outside consultants worked alongside local people this would avoid situations where foreigners come in, facilitate the project, then leave. Having an overall project mandate that is so focused on not encouraging this is problematic. Overall this criteria was successful in utilising local knowledge, however if foreign expertise and knowledge had also been utilised (particularly during the early stages) then a lot more could have been achieved.

<u>Measurement Three:</u> Facilitate a range of successful sub-projects across the Pacific that would involve extensive education stakeholders (from civil society to Ministries of Education)

Conclusion: PRIDE within the Solomon Islands did complete a number of successful sub-projects. Considering the timing of the project (with the ending of civil tensions and the establishment of the SWAP) the project should be commended for even completing nine sub-projects as well as participating in capacity building activities. What the project failed to achieve was extensive stakeholder buy in. Only one subproject was run by an NGO, the rest were run by the Ministry of Education or other government departments. This lack of participation may also reflect geographical divides. There is concern that many development initiatives fail to extend beyond the capital of Honiara. Certainly in PRIDE's case the majority of activity was based within the Ministry of Education (which is located in Honiara) and the NGO led subproject was located at four schools in Guadacanal (the greater Honiara area). While provincial plans and the early childhood curriculum were drawn up for the whole country, they were written from Honiara. Penetrating areas outside of Honiara is challenging as infrastructure and capacity is even further reduced. Participation and access from a wide range of education stakeholders was not achieved and therefore this criteria was not a success within the Solomon Islands.

<u>Measurement Four:</u> Be widely recognised as the leading regional education initiative by a range of stakeholders and education specialists.

Conclusion: PRIDE within the Solomon Islands was not recognised as the leading education initiative. The SWAP agreement (also co-funded by the EU and NZAID) very much took priority for the Ministry of Education. In reality the project held little prominence outside of top and middle managers of the Ministry of Education. It was purposely put aside in favour of bigger priority projects. During the initial stages, PRIDE activities sat outside of the Ministry's work plan and therefore filled gaps. The second round of sub-project activities were more effective and had strong alignment with specific priorities of the National Education Action Plan. Overall it seems that PRIDE did not have the funding or resources to gain the prominence it wanted. In the end funds that were allocated to the Solomon Islands were not used

and a considerable amount was returned to the project. It is disappointing that while significant gaps remain in education provision in the country, PRIDE funds were not able to be spent and used on filling these gaps. However, given capacity challenges it seems that the Ministry of Education acted in their best interest to focus on the biggest and most funded project.

PRIDE's Legacy within the Solomon Islands

PRIDE's legacy in the Solomon Islands will be mixed. Despite a slow start, PRIDE within the Solomon Islands achieved some positive results. PRIDE was able produce top level education plans such as the early childhood curriculum and provincial education action plans that were missing from the SWAP. However, the project's mandate to enhance the capacity of Pacific education agencies to effectively plan and deliver quality basic education through formal and non-formal means, and to improve the coordination of donor inputs to assist countries implement their plan was not realised. The project simply did not have enough resources to carry out these tasks. The donor landscape within the Solomon Islands is saturated and projects are prioritised according to the size and money they are able to offer. It seems almost arrogant that one single project with such a limited budget would even hope to deliver these results in one country, let alone fifteen across a wide region. PRIDE was merely a 'drop in the ocean' compared to other development projects that were going on within the Solomon Islands and was destined to struggle. While the limited number of people involved in the project are praising of what they achieved, in reality the dynamics were such that a wide range of stakeholders were not engaged. The reach of the project was limited to just the Honiara area and few educationalists outside of the Ministry of Education were even aware of the project. Overall it feels like a wasted opportunity and despite the initial excitement from the Minister of Education (who was involved in early PRIDE concept and design meetings) the project really failed to ever take off. The delivery and acahievement of basic education continues to remain a challenge for the Solomon Islands and PRIDE will have only made a small mark on this enormous task. In order to not erase the small amount that was achieved with PRIDE, the focus must now be on ensuring that the sub-project activities are sustained and that the action and provincial plans that were created are actually implemented.

CONCLUSION –ASSESSING PRIDE AS A REGIONAL APPROACH TO BASIC EDUCATION DELIVERY?

The PRIDE Project's journey began in 2001 when Pacific Island Forum Ministers of Education developed a visionary education blueprint called the Forum Basic Education Action Plan (FBEAP) to help achieve greater basic education levels throughout the region. Overtime there has been dissatisfaction by donors and recipients about the delivery of aid and particularly educational aid. There was concern that educational aid had delivered projects and programmes that were not relevant and compatible to 'island life' and were merely borrowed systems from donor countries. A culture of dependency flourished throughout the region, with relationships favouring the donor countries' priorities over Pacific Island countries needs. Currently there are thousands of consultants and aid practitioners that work throughout the region and even more projects and programmes happening. PRIDE was seen as a way for Pacific education agencies to plan and deliver their own education priorities effectively. The approach proposed to be more flexible and open than traditional donor projects, allowing countries to put forward their own projects for funding. Through the development of 'PRIDE Planning Benchmarks', the project was able to offer a 'Pacific epistemology' to the process of education planning and implementation.²¹³

The project focused on the provision of technical assistance as well as support and advice to build national capacities in three key areas. First, the development of effective and realistic education strategic plans, secondly the implementation of plans (through sub-project activities), and lastly sharing best practice examples through online networks, a resource centre and regional and sub-regional workshops. In total, the project received €8 million from the European Union Development Fund and NZD \$5 million from NZAID.²¹⁴ There are mixed views on how PRIDE developed and what it achieved since it came to an end in 2010. Whilst the project was created with historical hindsight in mind and admirable intentions there seems to be an almost 'black and white' divide between its critics. For some the project was unique, ambitious and indications point out there is much to celebrate.²¹⁵ For others

²¹³ Hau'ofa and Puamau, Op. Cit. p. 362.

²¹⁴ Ibid., p. 29. ²¹⁵ Ibid., p. 35.

the brief was too ambitious, the project replicated other initiatives some questioned the true dynamics and success of a regional project.

This chapter will conclude both sides of this argument and highlight key lessons from this research. Discussion will focus on PRIDE as a regional model and demonstrate that lessons can be learnt from this project. It will argue that the project had a mismatched and overoptimistic mandate. The project's size and financial backing was at no time likely to facilitate universal basic education throughout the region. This thesis will conclude by exploring the way forward for educational aid.

Capacity and Implementation

Two fundamental issues related to educational aid and PRIDE have emerged from this thesis. The first issue is the desire of Pacific people to own and manage their development versus the ability and capacity to undertake this task. The second issue is the notion of planning and strategising against implementation and follow-through. The dynamics of these contradictory issues have been a pervading force throughout PRIDE's duration.

Considerable calls have been made for Pacific people to regain control and have greater ownership of their aid and development. The exact definition of ownership is vast and can be interpreted very differently. It seems that the attention put on Pacific ownership is taking attention away from the pertinent issue that some small Pacific countries simply do not have the capacity to fully own, implement and manage development projects on their own. Donors are accountable to their funders and therefore have to make sure their money is well spent. Limited infrastructure and state capacity within some nations represents a considerable risk should these donors devolve responsibility to the recipient states' governments. Reduced structural infrastructure and wider societal, economic and political issues compound existing capacities. While it is not necessarily in the Pacific's best interest, it is understandable why donors have wanted to remain in control of aid processes. It seems that limited human capacity will continue to plague the Pacific which is now more than ever vulnerable to the 'brain drain' of its brightest people. Future projects must therefore continue to focus on fostering local capacity and reach a balance in using foreign consultants.

Issues of ownership and capacity were demonstrated by PRIDE activities within the Solomon Islands. Ministry of Education staff were pre-occupied with the larger SWAP agreement and few outside of the top levels of the Ministry were even aware of the project. The project did not have wide stakeholder engagement and PRIDE was significantly smaller in comparison to other donor projects underway. A number of sub-projects had to utilise foreign consultants or nationals to help them achieve their objectives. A number of lessons can be learnt from PRIDE within the Solomon Islands. First, what can realistically be achieved through a regional project depends on the capacity and capability of key personnel in a country. If there are not local 'heroes' to take the project forward then the likelihood of success is limited. Timing can also be a key to success as projects must fit alongside other government and donor activities. Through better coordination and communication between donors, duplication and pressure on capacity will be avoided. Secondly, the design of regional projects must include a thorough country specific situation analysis to ascertain and create relevant project activities for the capacity present in the country. It can be argued that PRIDE in the Solomon Islands was not a priority for the country and therefore did not reap many benefits. If the project had been postponed and implemented at a later date there may have been greater participation and results.

The second issue that PRIDE has demonstrated is planning versus implementation. The region seems to have focused heavily on creating plans, frameworks and strategies. Enacting and implementing these plans does not always occur. The first step will naturally include having a plan to work from, however activating the plan is when it becomes challenging. It seems this point is inherently linked back to wider capacity issues. There is definitely the desire and aspiration to achieve EFA and raise education levels, however there may not be the money, infrastructure and key personnel in place for this to happen. Money, time and resources need to continue to be directed toward implementation, which is by far the most crucial part of any development project.

Being influenced by wider development practices and SWAPs, it is understandable why PRIDE chose to focus on sectoral planning. With donors increasingly choosing to deal bilaterally with whole sectors, PRIDE was trying to position itself within these new approaches. Reorganising and making the top levels of a sector more efficient is important if they are to deliver better quality services. However it is still

unclear whether children within classrooms are actually benefitting from these new education sector reforms and the adoption of education SWAPs. How have learning outcomes improved and how many more children are actually attending school? Overall attention from donors as well as Ministries of Education must now be on making sure the sector plans and SWAPs are implemented, otherwise their creation was a waste of time.

PRIDE's legacy

There are both positive and negative outcomes from PRIDE. There is no doubt that PRIDE has been instrumental in promoting the idea of basic education throughout the Pacific. A large number of activities were carried out and a considerable amount of the budget was spent. Being institutionalised right from the beginning through the Pacific Islands Forum by the Ministers of Education themselves, the project had support from top levels of Ministries of Education. The project got people talking, interacting and thinking about the direction of Pacific education delivery. It also brought Pacific education specialists together and capacity building activities have assisted countries to strengthen their knowledge base in order to implement basic education. For smaller countries, such as Federated States of Micronesia and Palau, the project put together pathways for the future with the development of strategic plans and allowed them to access funding and resources otherwise unattainable. For countries that had strategic plans in place, PRIDE helped reaffirm the need to monitor strategic plans and provided money and resources to implement sub-project activities. The project had strong monitoring, reporting and evaluation mechanisms so a clear and transparent tracking of funding and resources evolved.

Despite these positive elements, the project was perhaps off target in a number of ways. Its overoptimistic mandate, lack of pre-country assessments and overall set up, meant that it began to be seen by recipient countries as just another donor funded project, with no point of difference. When this occurred there was less incentive to participate and overall it did not have the influence, money or resources to compete with other donor projects. Busy workloads and bigger, more pressing donor projects took priority. In addition, its overall objective was trying to achieve something wideranging using techniques and strategies that were already being used, and had a track record of not producing results. Being heavily influenced from wider SWAP and

national priority setting agendas, the project's mandate tried to replicate this through its strategic planning components. However, strategic planning had already begun for many countries. A major criticism of PRIDE is that there was little situational analysis' undertaken before the project commenced. With more research-based activities, a focus on each country's needs and gaps could have been identified and the project could have been adapted to suit these needs. When PRIDE commenced some key areas of work were not needed or a duplication of other donor activities occurred. While the flexibility and scope of the project was both a strength and weakness, perhaps focusing the mandate on more specific areas (strategic planning, capacity building or sub-projects) would have produced more concrete results. Instead the project seems to have spread itself too thinly and diluted results. Ultimately a more strategic focus would have yielded more tangible results.

While countries in the Pacific turn to donors for financial assistance and resources they inadvertently open themselves up to donor ownership and control issues. Ultimately these may just be fundamental problems of donor/recipient relations. Despite its best efforts, PRIDE with its small size, resources and manpower was never going to be able to overcome or change this. There is a sense that donors will continue to influence Pacific education priorities, and the top-down, expert-driven processes of gauging priorities will persist. Aid and development in the Pacific is big business with multiple actors and considerable ODA financial flows. Currently donors with the most money seem to draw the most attention, not those projects that are the effective, appropriate or relevant. As demonstrated by PRIDE in the Solomon Islands, the project not only replicated existing projects but sat awkwardly alongside the Ministry of Education. It is therefore vital that if regional projects are to be successful they must have thorough country level assessments, be well-timed, collaborate with existing stakeholders and offer something unique. Regional projects are certainly risky when countries are functioning and achieving different levels of education provision.

PRIDE as a regional project

What PRIDE set out to achieve as a regional project was impossible. A regional project of such a small size and large mandate was not well designed. The project was attempting to accomplish something extraordinary, basic education delivery,

without having the capacity and resources to do so. It is not impossible that regional initiatives can help to foster better educational delivery, however PRIDE's overoptimistic objectives were not only mismatched against activities happening within countries, they also failed to take into account what the prior consultation had identified as priorities for the area. In the original project proposal, after extensive consultation, the provision of formal and non-formal education for Pacific youth was meant to encompass the project. Instead, the project took on a considerably broader agenda; the delivery of basic education through strategic planning - which no single project could possibly tackle alone.

A lot can be learnt from PRIDE's regional scope. Utilising resources and collaborating between countries can work in the Pacific. People are willing and able to share their best practise examples and creating a familial 'kinship' environment is possible. The University of the South Pacific and the Pacific Island Forum certainly have a place in future educational aid projects. The Forum has made a commitment to education by appointing a permanent member of staff to oversee this portfolio. However, the extent to which both parties were involved may change in the future. Due to bureaucracy and governance issues throughout PRIDE, the University may not take on such a facilitative role. The Forum may also wish to take more of back seat role in future educational aid initiatives and act more as a lobby and intermediary agent for countries, particularly as it only has one staff member working on this portfolio. With increasing calls for the establishment of other regional projects in the education and health sectors, the successes and shortfalls of PRIDE's project design can be learnt from. Regionalism can work, however the size and context of the project must be well suited for this to happen.

Concluding Comments

PRIDE had big expectations laid upon it and for the first regional education initiative of its kind it naturally wanted to be successful. What can be taken from PRIDE is immense. The Pacific region is a challenging area to work in and there are inherent issues that no one project can change, particularly one as small as this. Facilitating ownership will require a fine balance between making sure there is capacity present and not just allowing foreign consultants to dominate. Furthermore building capacity

<u>-</u>

²¹⁶ Using only one case study in not the right tool for making comments about regionalism in general, further examination/research would be needed to expand on this.

and knowledge generation is vitally important. Delivering quality education will enable the next generation of young people to be confident and skilful in managing the futures of their countries. As every Pacific country now has an education strategic plan in place, through the help of PRIDE, or from other donors, the groundwork has been laid. Making sure education sector plans filter down and actually deliver quality education must now be prioritised. Wider social, political and economic problems will be lessened with populations that are well educated and informed. Unfortunately the 'chicken and the egg' argument is apparent as enabling education systems to flourish needs strong leadership, expertise and financial support. Now more than ever donors seem to be equally committed to the provision of quality basic education for all. What is important is that the key lessons from PRIDE as well as other development projects are indeed taken on board to help create future Pacific education initiatives that are truly world class.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Afamasga, Tilianamua and Epenesa Esera, 'Educational Aid in Samoa', in Kabini Sanga & Ana Taufe'ulungaki (ed.), *International Aid Impacts on Pacific Education* (Wellington: He Parekereke, Institute for Research and Development in Maori and Pacific Education, Victoria University, 2005).
- Australian Agency for International Development, 'Aid Activities: Pacific Education', http://www.ausaid.gov.au/country/pacific/education.cfm (accessed July 20 2010).
- Booth, David, 'Introduction and Overview', *Development Policy Review*, 21/131-159 (2003).
- Boutilier, James, 'Educational Dilemmas in the Pacific Islands', *Anthropology & Education Quarterly*, 23/1 (1992).
- Brock-Utne, Birgit 'Who has the power to define basic education', *Noraag News*, 19 (1997).
- Brown, Adrienne, et al., 'The Status of Sector Wide Approaches', Working Paper 142: Overseas Development Institute (2001).
- Buchert, Lene, 'Towards new partnerships in sector-wide approaches: comparative experiences from Burkina Faso, Ghana and Mozambique', *Journal of Educational Development*, 22/69-84 (2002).
- Caufield, Catherine, *Masters of Illusion: The World Bank and the Poverty of Nations*, (New York: Henry Holt and Co., 1997).
- Cole, Rodney, 'Economic development in the South Pacific promoting the private sector', *World Development*, 21 (1993).

Collier, P and D. Dollar, 'Development effectiveness: What have we learnt?', *The Economic Journal*, 114 (1993).

- Coxon, Eve and Karen Munce, 'The global education agenda and the delivery of aid to education', *Comparative Education*, 44/2 (2008).
- Coxon, Eve and Eric Pedersen, Review of the Solomon Island Education Sector Wide Approach Agreement, (Pederson Pierce Ltd, 2009).
- Coxon, Eve and Hillary Tolley, 'Aid to Pacific Education: An overview', in Kabini Sanga (ed.), *Re-thinking aid relationships in Pacific education* (Wellington: He Parekereke, Institute for Research and Development in Maori and Pacific Education, Victoria University, 2005).
- Crossley, Michael, 'Comparative and International Studies and Education in the South Pacific', *Comparative Education*, 29/3 (1993).
- Dinnen, Sinclair, 'Winners and Losers: Politics and Disorder in the Solomon Islands 2000-2002', *The Journal of Pacific History*, 37/3 (2002).
- Fairbairn, Te'o I. J. 'Pacific Island Economies: Performance, Growth, Prospects and the Impact of the Asian Economic Crisis', *Asian-Pacific Economic Literature*, 13/2 (2002).
- Foster, Mick, 'New Approaches to Development Co-operation: What can we learn from experience with implementing Sector Wide Approaches', *Working Paper 140: Overseas Development Institute* (2000).
- Gani, Azmat, 'Pacific Island Countries High Per Capita Foreign Aid Requirement', *Journal for International Development*, 18/285-292 (2006).
- Garner, Paul, 'Sector Wide Approaches in Developing Countries The aid given must make the most impact', *BMJ*, 321 (2000).

Harrison, Graham, 'Post- Conditionality Politics and Administrative Reform: Reflections on the Cases of Uganda and Tanzania', *Development and Change*, 32/657-679 (2001).

- Hegarty, David et al., 'Rebuilding State and nation in Solomon Islands: Policy options for the Regional Assistance Mission', *ANU State Society and Governance in Melanesia Discussion Paper*, 2 (2004).
- Hau'ofa, Barbara and Priscilla Puamau, *Best Practise in Pacific Education: Learning with PRIDE* (The PRIDE Project Pacific Education Series No. 9, Institute of Education, University of the South Pacific, 2010).
- Hawksley, Charles, 'Australia's aid diplomacy and the Pacific Islands, change and continuity in middle power foreign policy', *Global Change, Peace & Security*, 21/1 (2009).
- Hoadley, Stephen, *Pacific island security management by New Zealand & Australia:* towards a new paradigm (Centre for Strategic Studies, Victoria University of Wellington, 2005).
- Hughes, Helen, 'Trade or aid? Which benefits developing countries the most', *Economic Papers*, 22/3 (2006).
- Klees, Steven, 'World Bank Development Policy: A SAP in SWAPs clothing', *Current Issues in Comparative Education*, 3/2 (2001).
- Macrae, Murray and Mike Ratcliffe, 'Sector Wide Approaches to Education- A strategic analysis', *Education Research Paper: Department for International Development*, 32 (1999).
- Lensink, Robert and Howard White, 'Are there negative returns to aid?', *Journal of Development Studies*, 37/6 (2001).

Luteru, P H & G R Teasdale, 'Aid and Education in the South Pacific', *Comparative Education*, 29/3 (1993).

- Maglen, Leo, 'The impact of bilateral aid on educational development: The Case of Australia and the South Pacific', *Comparative Education*, 26/1 (1990).
- Maizels, Alfred and Machiko Nissanke, 'Motivations for Aid to Developing Countries', *World Development*, 12/9 (1984).
- Maxwell, Simon and Roger Riddell, 'Conditionality or Contract: Perspective on partnership for Development', *Journal of International Development*, 10/257-268 (1998).
- McNeill, Desmond, *The Contradictions of Foreign Aid* (London: Croom Helm, 1981).
- Mundy, Karen, 'Education for All- Paradoxes and Prospects of a global promise', in David Baker and Alexander Wiseman, *Education for All: Global Promises*, *National Challenges* (Oxford: Elsevier, 2007).
- NZAID, 'Achieving Education for All- Policy Document', 2004,
 http://www.nzaid.govt.nz/library/docs/nzaid-education-policy.pdf (accessed 5 December 2010).
- NZAID, 'NZAID Sector Wide Approaches (SWAps) Guideline Report', 2006, http://nzaidtools.nzaid.govt.nz/sector-wide-approaches-swaps (accessed 5 December 2010).
- OECD, 'Development at a glance- Statistics by region- Oceania', 2010, http://www.oecd.org/dataoecd/43/29/42139429.pdf (accessed 10 December 2010).

OECD, 'Development Aid at a Glance 2010: Statistics by Region', 2010 http://www.oecd.org/dataoecd/43/29/42139429.pdf, (accessed 8 August 2010).

- Okemakinde, Olaniyan, 'Human Capital Theory: Implications for Educational Development', *European Journal of Scientific Research*, 24/2 (2008).
- Pacific Islands Forum, http://www.forumsec.org (accessed 15 October 2010).
- Pacific Archive of Digital Data for Learning and Education (PADDLE), http://www.paddle.usp.ac.fj/ (accessed 15 October 2010).
- Pollard, Bob 'Solomon Islands Education and Donor Assistance in the Post Conflict Period' in Kabini Sanga & Ana Taufe'ulungaki (ed.), 'International Aid Impacts on Pacific Education', (Wellington: He Parekereke, Institute for Research and Development in Maori and Pacific Education, Victoria University, 2005).
- Puamau, Priscilla 'Rethinking Education in the Pacific', (Keynote Address presented at Australia New Zealand Comparative International Education Society Annaul Conference, Canberra, 30 November 3 December 2006).
- RAMSI Webpage, http://www.ramsi.org/about/history.html, (accessed 14 December 2010).
- Riddell, Abby, *Education Sector-Wide Approaches (SWAps): Background, Guide and Lessons* (Paris: Division of Education Strategies and Field Support Report, UNESCO, 2007).
- Robertson Susan et al, 'Globalisation, Education and Development-Ideas, Actors and Dynamics', *Researching the Issues*, 68 (2007).
- Samoff, Joel, 'The intellectual/Financial Complex of Foreign Aid', *Review of African Political Economy*, 53/60-87 (1992).

Sanga, Kabini, 'The nature and impact of educational aid in Pacific countries', in Kabini Sanga, *International Aid Impacts on Pacific Education* (Wellington: He Parekereke, Institute for Research and Development in Maori and Pacific Education, Victoria University, 2005).

- Sanga, Kabini, 'A context sensitive approach to educational aid', *Journal of Educational Studies*, 25/1&2 (2003).
- Smith, Harvey, 'Ownership and capacity: Do current donor approaches help or hinder the achievement of international and national targets for education', *International Journal of Educational Development*, 25/4 (2005).
- Solomon Islands National Statistics Office, 2010
 http://www.spc.int/prism/country/sb/stats/Social/Education/primnet-enrol.htm (accessed 16 December 2010).

Tomasevski, Katarina, Education Denied (London: Zed Books Ltd, 2003).

- UNICEF, 'Pacific Island Countries: Children's issues',
 http://www.unicef.org/pacificislands/overview.html, (accessed 17 February 2011).
- United Nations Development Programme, Country Profiles and International Human Development Indicators', http://hdr.undp.org/en/data/profiles/ (accessed 20 July 2010).
- United Nations, 'United Nations Millennium Development Goals', http://www.un.org/millenniumgoals/ (accessed 31 March 2011)
- University of South Pacific, 'The PRIDE Project', University of South Pacific, http://www.usp.ac.fj/index.php?id=publications0, (accessed 15 October 2010).

University of South Pacific, *PRIDE: End of Completion Report, Part One, Summary Report* (October 2010).

University of South Pacific, Solomon Islands PRIDE: End of Completion Report, Part One, Summary Report (October 2010).

UNESCO, 'World Conference on EFA, Jomtien, 1990',

http://www.unesco.org/en/efa/the-efa-movement/jomtien-1990/ (accessed 15 August 2010).

UNESCO, 'Meeting Basic Learning Needs: A Vision for the 1990s, Background Document World Conference on Education for All', 1990, http://unesdoc.unesco.org/images/0009/000975/097552e.pdf, (accessed 20 July 2010).

INTERVIEWS

Dr Cherie Chu- Victoria University (Wellington)

Dr Kabini Sanga- Victoria University (Wellington)

Laura van Peer – Pacific educational aid researcher (Wellington)

Trisha Nally- NZAID (Wellington)

Dr Eve Coxon – Auckland University (Auckland)

Dr Priscilla Puamau- The PRIDE Project (Suva, Fiji)

Professor Vijay Naidu- The University of the South Pacific (Suva, Fiji)

Professor Konai Thaman- The University of the South Pacific (Suva, Fiji)

Filipe Jitoko - Pacific Island Forum (Suva, Fiji)

Makeleta Koloi- NZAID (Suva, Fiji)

Emma Dunlop-Bennet- NZAID (Suva, Fiji)

Dr Donasiano Ruru- National University of Fiji (Nadi, Fiji)

Kirsty Burnett- NZAID Solomon Islands (Honiara, Solomon Islands)

Stanley Houma- The University of the South Pacific (Honiara, Solomon Islands)

Dr Alice Pollard- Gender and development specialist (Honiara, Solomon Islands)

Maelyn Kuve- Permanent Secretary for the Solomon Island Ministry of Education (Honiara, Solomon Islands)

Georgia Noy- Save the Children Solomon Islands (Honiara, Solomon Islands)